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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
AGENDA

June 11, 2022
Fairmont Palliser | Crystal Ballroom | Calgary, Alberta
Registration 11:30 a.m. MDT | AGM & Luncheon 12:00 p.m. MDT

1. President’'s Welcome

2. Review of Rules for the Meeting

3. Call to Order

4. Approval of the Annual General Meeting Agenda (Ordinary Resolution 1)

5. Introduction of the Board of Directors and Special Guests

6. Approval of the Annual General Meeting Minutes of June 2, 2021 (Ordinary Resolution 2)
7. Overview of Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2021

8. Appointment of Public Accountant for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 (Ordinary Resolution 3)

9. Approval of the Articles of Amendment (Special Resolutions 1 — 3)
10. Approval of the Amended Bylaws (Special Resolutions 4 — 6)

11. Authorization to file the Articles of Amendment and the Amended Bylaws with Corporations Canada
(Special Resolution 7)

12. Summary of Reports
13. New Business
14. Election of the 2022-2024 Board of Directors (Ordinary Resolution 4)

15. Adjournment
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
RESOLUTIONS

June 11, 2022
Fairmont Palliser | Crystal Ballroom | Calgary, Alberta
Registration 11:30 a.m. MDT | AGM & Luncheon 12:00 p.m. MDT

Ordinary Resolutions

Note: "Ordinary Resolution” requires a majority of not less than 50% plus 1 of the votes cast on that resolution to pass.

1. The Members of the Corporation, by Ordinary Resolution, hereby approve the Annual General Meeting
agenda as presented.

2. The Members of the Corporation, by Ordinary Resolution, hereby approve the Annual General Meeting
minutes of February 25, 2021, as presented.

3. The Members of the Corporation, by Ordinary Resolution, hereby appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as
Public Accountant to review the financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

4. The Directors of the Corporation, in the slate presented to the Members of the Corporation, are hereby
elected by ordinary resolution for a two (2) year term expiring on the date of the second annual meeting
following election.

Special Resolutions

Note: "Special Resolution" requires a majority of not less than 2/3 of the votes cast on that resolution to pass.

1. The Articles of Continuance of the Corporation are hereby amended, by Special Resolution of the
Manufacturer Members of the Corporation, in the form provided to the members of the Corporation in
advance of this special meeting of the members of the Corporation.

2. The Articles of Continuance of the Corporation are hereby amended, by Special Resolution of the
Associate Members of the Corporation, in the form provided to the members of the Corporation in advance
of this special meeting of the members of the Corporation.

3. The Articles of Continuance of the Corporation are hereby amended, by Special Resolution of the Life
Members of the Corporation, in the form provided to the members of the Corporation in advance of this
special meeting of the members of the Corporation.

4. The Bylaws of the Corporation are hereby amended, by Special Resolution of the Manufacturer Members
of the Corporation, in the form provided to the members of the Corporation in advance of this special
meeting of the members of the Corporation.
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5. The Bylaws of the Corporation are hereby amended, by Special Resolution of the Associate Members of
the Corporation, in the form provided to the members of the Corporation in advance of this special meeting
of the members of the Corporation.

6. The Bylaws of the Corporation are hereby amended, by Special Resolution of the Life Members of the
Corporation, in the form provided to the members of the Corporation in advance of this special meeting of
the members of the Corporation.

7. Any director of the Corporation may and is hereby authorized and directed, by Special Resolution, to file

the Articles of Amendment and the Amended Bylaws with Corporations Canada, with such revisions as
may be required to file the same, and to place a copy thereof in the minute book of the Corporation.
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MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION
OF CANADA

DE MENUISERIE ARCHITECTURALE

ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK ‘ ASSOCIATION DES MANUFACTURIERS
DU CANADA

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
MINUTES

June 2, 2021
Virtual Meeting
Registration 9:30 a.m. MDT | AGM 10:00 a.m. MDT

Voting Delegate and Proxy Holder in Attendance:

Company or Life Member

© N oA~ wWDN R

9.

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

16.
17.

18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
20.
30.
31.

Able Woodwork Limited
Adservco Group

Akhurst Machinery

Akhurst Machinery

Akhurst Machinery

Akzo Nobel Wood Coatings Ltd.
All Wood Fine Interiors Ltd

Amron Homes, Amron Construction,
Heartstone Cabinets

Apollo Industries Ltd.
Archmill House

Artek Vancouver

Bec Woodcratft Ltd
Beckville Woodcrafts Ltd

Benchmark Architectural Woodworking Inc.

Berkshire Contracting Ltd.
Blum Canada Ltd.
Blum Canada Ltd.

Blum Canada Ltd.

Blum Canada Ltd.

Blum Canada Ltd.

Brenlo Ltd.

Cambium Woodwork (2005) Ltd.
Chad Stretch

CIF Lab Solutions LP

Colwin Design Ltd
Commonwealth Plywood Co Ltd.
Commonwealth Plywood Distribution
Convoy Custom Interiors Inc.
Crescent Cabinet Co. Ltd.

DCL Woodworking Ltd.

Door Painters Ltd.

NATIONAL

Member Type = Member Chapter Delegate or Proxy Holder
Manufacturer Southern Alberta Dany Brodeur Delegate
Associate Ontario Rudy Bardeck Proxy Holder
Associate British Columbia Ryan Akhurst Delegate
Associate Atlantic Christian Landry Delegate
Associate Ontario Ryan Akhurst Delegate
Associate Ontario Rudy Barkeck Proxy Holder
Manufacturer Ontario Mike Sanchez Delegate
Manufacturer Southern Alberta Rudy Bardeck Proxy Holder
Manufacturer British Columbia Rudy Bardeck Delegate
Manufacturer Ontario Nick Anastas Delegate
Manufacturer British Columbia Rudy Barkeck Proxy Holder
Manufacturer Southern Alberta Rudy Bardeck Proxy Holder
Manufacturer British Columbia Kevin Tierney Proxy Holder
Manufacturer British Columbia Kevin Tierney Delegate
Manufacturer Southern Alberta Brian Berkshire Delegate
Associate Atlantic Frank Sansalone Proxy Holder
Associate British Columbia Frank Sansalone Proxy Holder
Associate Saskatchewan Frank Sansalone Proxy Holder
Associate Ontario Frank Sansalone Delegate
Associate Quebec Frank Sansalone Proxy Holder
Manufacturer Ontario Jeff Clermont Delegate
Manufacturer Southern Alberta Wayne Head Delegate
Life Atlantic Chad Stretch Delegate
Manufacturer Ontario Nick Anastas Proxy Holder
Manufacturer British Columbia Ramon Scontrino Delegate
Associate Ontario Philip Roy Proxy Holder
Associate Quebec Philip Roy Proxy Holder
Manufacturer Ontario Peter Gallagher Delegate
Manufacturer Ontario Livio Passalent Delegate
Manufacturer Ontario Carlo DeFrancesco Proxy Holder
Associate British Columbia Menza Bouwman Delegate
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32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.

64.

65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71.
72.
73.

ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK
MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION
OF CANADA

Ebenisterie Foxwoods Millwork Inc.
Ell-Rod Holdings Inc.

Executive Millwork Inc.

F.C. Machinery Ltd.

F.C. WoodWorks Inc.

First Choice Millwork Inc.
Formations Inc.

Formations Inc.

Formations Inc.

Formations Inc.

Formations Inc.

Formica Canada Inc

Frank VanDonzel

Franklin D. Wedman

G & S Woodworking

GL Industries Ltd.

Goodfellow Inc.

Grass Canada Inc.

Grass Canada Inc.

Green Valley Woodworking Ltd.
Guide Woodworking Inc.
Hardwoods Specialty Products
Héritage Ebénisterie Architecturale
IMA Schelling Canada

Island Architectural Millwork Ltd.

Jean M. Savighac General Woodwork Ltd.

Kenneth R. Jackson

LINN Millwork Company Inc.

M + K Contracting

Madsen's Custom Cabinets (1983) Ltd.
McFaddens

McMurray Interiors

Mercury Wood Products

Mill Supply Limited

Milltech Millwork Ltd
Morinwood Manufacturing Inc
Nick's Woodcraft Industries Ltd.
Nikolai Manufacturing Inc.
Nova Wood Products Limited
Platinum Millwork Inc.
Precision Veneer Products Ltd.
Presentex Canada Inc.
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Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Life

Life
Manufacturer
Manufactuer
Associate
Associate
Associate
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Life
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer

Associate

Associate

Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate

Manufacturer

Atlantic

Ontario
Southern Alberta
Manitoba
Manitoba
Southern Alberta
British Columbia
Saskatchewan
Manitoba
Northern Alberta
Southern Alberta
Ontario
Southern Alberta
Northern Alberta
Ontario

Ontario

Atlantic

Ontario

British Columbia
Ontario

Ontario
Southern Alberta
Quebec

Ontario

British Columbia
Ontario

Ontario
Saskatchewan
Ontario

Northern Alberta
Atlantic

Northern Alberta

Ontario

Atlantic
Northern Alberta
British Columbia
Southern Alberta
British Columbia
Atlantic
British Columbia
Ontario
Ontario

Clint Hart

Rudy Bardeck
Stephanie Roll
Chris Caligiuri
Rick Mostert
Wayne Southall
Shane Senger
Wayne Tait
Brett McDougall
Scott Hagel
Alex Koch
Philip Roy
Frank VanDonzel
Mark Whitman
Nick Anastas
lan Christie
Tracy Wright
lan Christie
llona Stigrad

Carlo DeFrancesco

lan Christie
Chance Engel
Martin Boutet
Peter Gallagher
Rudy Bardeck
Rudy Bardeck

Kenneth R. Jackson

Kasia Robinson
Karyna Cheng
Craig Leach
J.R. Perry
Mark Whitman
Dawn-Renee
Modestino
Tracy Wright
Mark Whitman
Rudy Bardeck
Anna Lisa Lobello
Robert Roe
J.R. Perry
Kevin Tierney
lan Christie
Daniel Theriault

NATIONAL

Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate

Delegate

Delegate
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Delegate
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74. Progressive Cabinets and Millwork Ltd.

75. Provincial Lab Systems

76. Provincial Woodworkers Ltd.
77. R.J. Millwork Company Ltd.
78. Rainbow Contractors Ltd.
79. Ranco Manufacturing Inc.
80. RBK Millwork Ltd.

81. RGA Woodworking Ltd.

82. Richelieu

83. Richelieu Hardware

84. Richelieu Hardware

85. Richelieu Hardware

86. Richelieu Hardware

87. Richelieu Hardware

88. Richelieu Hardware

89. Richelieu Hardware - Saskatchewan

90. Royal Woodworking Co Ltd.
91. Schneider’s Millwork
92. SCM Group Canada

93. Second Generation Furnishings Inc.

94. Stirling Woodworks Ltd.

95. Taurus Craco Machinery Inc.
96. Trend Millwork Corp.

97. Uniboard Canada Inc.

98. Upper Canada Forest Products
99. Upper Canada Forest Products
100.Upper Canada Forest Products
101.Wanes Custom Woodworks Inc.
102.Western Millwork Ltd.
103.Willis Supply Company Ltd.
104.Winwood Millwork Inc.
105.Woodworking Magazine
106.Woodlogix Interior Inc.

Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Associate
Associate
Associate
Associate
Manufacturer
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer
Associate
Manufacturer

Non-Voting Guests and Participants in Attendance:

Anthony Murdoch
Cheryl DePape
Glenda Harskamp
Laurie Suikki
Lawny Zieffle
Michelle Morrell
Scott McVittie

No oo prwDdhRE

Atlantic

Atlantic

Atlantic
Manitoba
Southern Alberta
Saskatchewan
Northern Alberta
Ontario

Quebec
Southern Alberta
Atlantic

British Columbia
Manitoba
Northern Alberta
Ontario
Saskatchewan
Ontario
Saskatchewan
British Columbia
Ontario

British Columbia
Ontario

Ontario

Ontario

Ontario

Northern Alberta
Southern Alberta
British Columbia
Manitoba
Ontario
Manitoba
Ontario

Ontario

National Marketing & Events Coordinator
National Executive Assistant
British Columbia Chapter Executive Director
Ontario Chapter Admin
Southern Alberta Chapter Manager
National Executive Director
Manual Committee Chair

J.R. Perry
Steve Blight
Matt Cameron
Dave Hudon
Chris Weening
Simon Nunn
Craig Gaunt
Rudy Bardeck
Marcel Mathieu
Stephanne Demers
Marcel Mathieu
Marcel Mathieu
Marcel Mathieu
Marcel Mathieu
Marcel Mathieu
Lee-Ann Smith
Rudy Bardeck
Curtis Trann
Kevin Guest

lan Christie
Stephen Glegg
Carlo DeFrancesco
lan Christie
Troy Fagan

lan Christie
Larry White
Larry White
Martin Berryman
Natalya Osmankin
Rosa Jaques
Jamie Fissel
Bert Kleiser

lan Christie

NATIONAL

Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Proxy Holder
Proxy Holder
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Delegate
Proxy Holder
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Call to Order
President Rudy Bardeck welcomed the assembly to the 52nd Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).

Rudy advised that with 363 voting members registered with AWMAC, we require a minimum of 73
voting delegates or proxies to reach the necessary quorum of 20%. It was confirmed that quorum was
obtained with 106 or 29% of the membership entitled to vote in attendance or through proxy.

Rudy called the AGM to order at 10:05 a.m. MDT and extended thanks to the 2019-2020 Board of
Directors, staff and AWMAC Partners.

Amendment to and Adoption Of Agenda

Rudy advised that amendments to the agenda were not permitted from the floor. However, all members
were provided with the ability to submit recommendations for amendments to the agenda to their
Chapter’'s AWMAC National Director. As no submissions were received, Rudy called for a motion to
adopt the agenda.

MOTION
MOVED AND SECONDED “TO ADOPT THE ANNUAL MEETING AGENDA FOR THE
YEAR 2020, AS PRESENTED”.
CARRIED

Approval of Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on February 25, 2021

Rudy advised that the AGM minutes were included with the Notice of Meeting and called for a motion to
approve the minutes.

MOTION

MOVED AND SECONDED “TO WAIVE READING OF THE MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING HELD ON FEBRUARY 25, 2021 AND
APPROVE THOSE MINUTES AS PRESENTED.”

Discussion:

» |t was advised that the third paragraph in section four should read “AWMAC had close to $130,000
in cash” not $130.
o It was confirmed the minutes will be amended to correct this error.
o The motion was amended.

“TO WAIVE READING OF THE MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING HELD ON FEBRUARY 25, 2021 AND
APPROVE THOSE MINUTES AS AMENDED.”

CARRIED

Minutes of AGM held on June 2, 2021 | AGM | June 11, 2022
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4. 2020 Financial Statements Overview

Secretary/Treasurer Mark Whitman summarized the 2020 financial reports reviewed by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mark advised that the Board previously approved the reports and are
provided to the membership for information. No questions or comments were raised.

5. Appointment of Public Accountant for the Fiscal Year Ending 2021

Mark advised that AWMAC is required to have the financial statements reviewed by a public accountant
annually and that the Board recommends PricewaterhouseCoopers review the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2021.

MOTION
MOVED AND SECONDED “TO APPOINT PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS PUBLIC
ACCOUNTANT TO REVIEW THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2021.”
CARRIED

6. Election of Directors

Rudy advised that the names of the Directors to be elected were included in the Notice of Meeting and
were hominated by their respective Chapters. Each Director’s term of office will end at the close of the
next AGM in June 2022.

Directors to be elected:

= Menza Bouwman of the BC Chapter

= Stephanie Roll of the Southern Alberta Chapter
= Mark Whitman of the Northern Alberta Chapter
» Kasia Robinson of the Saskatchewan Chapter

= Rick Mostert of the Manitoba Chapter

= Peter Gallagher of the Ontario Chapter

= Martin Boutet of the Quebec Chapter

= Tracy Wright of the Atlantic Chapter

Rudy confirmed that the Board had appointed himself, Rudy Bardeck, and Jeff Clermont to the Board for
2021-2022.

MOTION
MOVED AND SECONDED “TO ELECT THE AFOREMENTIONED INDIVIDUALS AS
DIRECTORS FOR 2021-2022.”
CARRIED

Minutes of AGM held on June 2, 2021 | AGM | June 11, 2022
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Rudy confirmed that for 2021-2022, as no in-person events or conventions have been held for some
time, the Board decided to continue with the current slate of Officers. The next transition will occur during
the 2022 AWMAC National Convention.

2021-2022 Officers:

= President Rudy Bardeck
= Vice President Jeff Clermont
= Secretary-Treasurer Mark Whitman
= Past President Larry White

7. 2020 Reports Overview

Jeff Clermont summarized information contained within the 2020 Annual Report.

Membership
= 360 active Manufacturer, Associate and Life Members in 2020 compared to 361 members in 2019.

=  AWMAC's Chapters maintained additional membership categories such as Advisory
Members (9), Affiliate Members (7), Education Members (19) and Design Authority Members (69).
AWMAC's total membership consisted of 464 registered members.

Standards Manual

= NAAWS 3.1 continued to be distributed in a PDF format and hardcopy version.

= Atotal of 14,627 NAAWS manuals have been distributed across North America by the end of 2020,
with 3,081 being distributed in 2020.

= 5,937 manuals have been distributed across Canada, with over 1,710 distributed in 2020.

Governance

= The Board met virtually 12 times during 2020.

= Organizational structure mapping was developed to guide our association by identifying the various
components of AWMAC and their relationship to one another.

» Board questionnaires for annual evaluation, meeting evaluation, and exit interviews were developed.

= 11 Presidents' Meetings were held in 2020.

= Numerous policies were drafted and approved.

= A summary of areas of focus for 2021 and 2022 was provided.

Chapter Standardization Committee

= The Chapter Standardization Committee held three meetings in 2020.

» The main focus of the meetings was to develop consistent Chapter bylaws across Canada.
= 2020 ended with the plan to review and revise the committee’s bylaws.

= A summary of areas of focus for 2021 and 2022 was provided.

Minutes of AGM held on June 2, 2021 | AGM | June 11, 2022
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Inter-Association Committee
= The Inter-Association Committee held six meetings in 2020, including one in-person meeting in Palm
Springs, California.
= 2020 highlights included:
o Finalizing and approving the NAAWS logo and covers.
o Developing a joint NAAWS marketing plan.
o Creating an IAC structure and communication flow chart.
o Plans were put in place to update the current IAC Memorandum of Understanding.
=  For 2021 and 2022, the focus will include better defining AWMAC’s and WI’s relationship and roles
of joint committees.

Marketing
=  The new AWMAC website was launched in March 2020.

= Regular column contributions to Woodworking Canada magazine continued.

= A NAAWS 4.0 marketing plan was developed in collaboration with the Woodwork Institute.
» The Sounding Board magazine continued.

= Social media engagement began.

=  Multiple newsletters and surveys were released.

= A summary of areas of focus for 2021 and 2022 was provided.

GIS Program
Kasia Robinson provided an overview of the GIS program for 2020.

» The National GIS Liability Trust Fund Balance is $257,428.
= 384 GIS certificates were covered under the GIS program’s 2-year guarantee.
= 202 GIS Certificates were issued.
= Chapter GIS revenue was $649,395.
* The total contract value was $46 million.
=  AWMAC had 17 inspectors across Canada.
» The GIS Committee met virtually six times throughout 2020.
= 2020 highlights include:
o Development of a GIS Virtual Inspection Policy.
o Regular oversight and management of the program.
o Numerous amendments to the GIS Policy and Procedure Manual.
= A summary of areas of focus for 2021 and 2022 was provided.

NAAWS

Martin Boutet reported on the NAAWS Committee for 2020.

=  The NAAWS Committee met 33 times in 2020. Most of these meetings were to work on NAAWS 4.0,
which was released on May 31, 2021.

= Like all previous NAAWS editions, it is available as a free download or hardcopy purchase in English
and French; it is also available in Spanish.

= Martin provided information on the rationale behind edition 4.0, how 4.0 was developed, and how
input into the NAAWS can be provided.
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Rudy thanked the manual committee consisting of Jim Taylor, Nick Anastas, Martin Boutet, and Scott
McVittie for their work on NAAWS 4.0. Rudy recognized Kerry DePape, who chaired the manual
committee for the first two years of the manual’s conception. Rudy also thanked the National Executive
Director Michelle Morrell and the staff who have been working on all levels of the association.

Question and Answer Session

Rudy opened the floor to the question-and-answer session.

Comment No.1:

Response:

Comment No. 2:

Comment No. 3:

Response:

Comment No. 4:

Response:

Comment No. 5:
Response:

Comment No. 6:

It was suggested that the Chapter should be in between the membership and the
National Board on the organizational chart.

It was shared that communication is always open, whether from the Chapter or the
membership. It was suggested that a governance information session might help
understand the rationale behind the chart's structure.

Members expressed thanks to the NAAWS Committee surrounding the release of the
manual.

It was asked what the next steps are to get the bylaws approved and if the
membership will have the opportunity to review and vote on them.

It was advised that the bylaws developed in collaboration with the Chapters are
under review by legal counsel, and they will be sent to the Chapters to allow
members to review and approve. Once there is Chapter approval, National will align
National’s bylaws. It was reminded that each Chapter has a voice that sits on the
committee.

It was asked what happens if issues or concerns are brought forward regarding
Chapter standardization.

It was advised that any questions or concerns should be addressed with their
Chapter representative, who may bring them to the committee.

It was asked what AWMAC's plan for growth is.

It was advised that there is an upcoming planning session for the Board, and that
topic will be part of that. Currently, the Ontario chapter is spending time getting
members involved in Ottawa. At this time, they can service the area rather than set
up a new Chapter.

It was mentioned that the Chapter Standardization Committee had included a new
category for Installers. This gives an opportunity to push for members in this category
now. This could bring up the quality of the installation and help our membership as
well, and hopefully, they will become an essential part of the association.
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Comment No. 7: Chris Weening of the Southern Alberta Chapter welcomed all members to come to
Calgary in June of 2022 for the AWMAC National Convention. A promotional video
was shown highlighting Calgary and the upcoming convention.

9. Adjournment

There being no further business, President Rudy Bardeck declared the Annual General Meeting
adjourned at 11:33 a.m. MDT.
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BYLAWS

Approved by the Members of the Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada (“AWMAC”) by
Special Resolution at a duly constituted and called Meeting held on June 11, 2022.

ARTICLE 1 - INTERPRETATION

1.1 In these Bylaws, so far as the context does not otherwise require:

(@) "Act" means the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act, SC 2009, ¢ 23, including any regulations
made pursuant to the Act, and any statute or regulations that may be substituted for the Act, in
each case as amended and as may be in force from time to time;

(b) "Allied Member" means such Persons or Entities which have been approved as Allied Members
under these Bylaws and the Articles;

(c) "Annual General Meeting" means that annual general meeting of the Members to be held in
accordance with the requirements of the Act and these Bylaws;

(d) "Articles" means the articles of AWMAC filed with the Federal Corporate Registrar from time to
time;

(e) "AWMAC" means the Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada;

() "AWMAC Standards" means the most-current NAAWS, including all errata and new editions, as
may be adopted by AWMAC from time to time by a vote of not less than seventy-five percent (75%)
of the Board members who cast a vote at a duly called and constituted meeting of the Board where
a quorum is present, and including such other manufacturing or woodworking standards as may be
established by the Board and in place from time to time;

(9) "Board" means the Board of Directors of AWMAC,;

(h) "Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or federal statutory holiday;

() "Bylaws" means this bylaw and any other bylaws of AWMAC as may be approved and in force in
accordance with the requirements of the Act, in each case, as amended;

()] "Chair" means that Director appointed or elected as the Chair of the Board under these Bylaws
and which, for clarity, shall be the President of AWMAC,;

(k) "Chapter" means one (1) of the following provincial, territorial, or geographically approved chapters

of AWMAC, as applicable, and including:

0] Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada — Atlantic Chapter;

(i) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada (Québec Chapiter)
(AWMAC);

(iii) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada — Ontario Chapter;

Draft AWMAC Bylaws for Member Approval | Updated May 10, 2022
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(iv) A.W.M.A.C. — Manitoba Chapter Inc.;

(v) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada — Saskatchewan Chapter,
Inc.;

(vi) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada Northern Alberta Chapter;
(vii) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada Southern Alberta Chapter;

(viii)  Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada British Columbia Chapter;
or

(ix) any other provincial, territorial or geographically approved Chapter of AWMAC that may be
duly incorporated and recognized and approved by the Board as a regional AWMAC
Chapter from time to time;

"Chapter Board" means the Board of Directors of a Chapter;

"Chapter Member" means those members of a Chapter from time to time;

"Chapter Membership Fees" means the fees, dues or assessments set by a Chapter for payment
due by members of such Chapter from time to time;

"Desigh Member" means such Persons or Entities which have been approved as Desigh Members
under these Bylaws and the Articles;

"Directors" means the Directors of AWMAC appointed from time to time, and a "Director" means
one (1) of them;

"Entity" or "Entities" means a firm, corporation, partnership or other legal entity of any kind, but
does not include a Person;

"Executive Director" means a Person hired by AWMAC to act as its executive director;
"GIS" means the Guarantee and Inspection Service;

"Guarantee and Inspection Service" means a country-wide program of AWMAC that guarantees
architectural woodwork meets or exceeds industry standards;

“Industry" means the architectural woodwork industry in Canada, including as more particularly
defined or outlined in the AWMAC Standards;

"Installer Member" means such Entities which have been approved as Installer Members under
these Bylaws and the Articles;

"Installer Standards Exam" means the current series of questions to determine the knowledge of
a Person, being a representative of an Entity, of the AWMAC Standards and GIS program as it
relates to the installation of architectural woodwork. For clarity, it is the Person who completed the
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ISE Certification who obtains and holds the ISE Certification and not the Entity which that Person,
at the time of completion, represents;

"ISE" means the Installer Standards Exam;
"ISE Certification" means the successful completion of the current ISE;

"Life Member" means such Persons who have been approved as Life Members under these
Bylaws and the Articles;

"Manufacturer Member" means such Entities which have been approved as Manufacturer
Members under these Bylaws and the Articles;

"Manufacturer Standards Exam" means the current series of questions to determine a Person's
knowledge, being a representative of an Entity, of the AWMAC Standards and GIS program. For
clarity, it is the Person who completed the MSE Certification who obtains and holds the MSE
Certification and not the Entity which that Person, at the time of completion, represents;

"Manufacturing Facility" means an architectural woodwork manufacturing facility that produces
architectural woodwork products as defined by the current AWMAC Standards;

"Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting or a Special Meeting of the Members of AWMAC, as
the case may be;

"Members" means those members of AWMAC from time to time;

Membership Fees" means the fees payable by Members to AWMAC in the manner set out in these
Bylaws;

"MSE" means the Manufacturer Standards Exam;
"MSE Certification" means the successful completion of the current MSE;
"NAAWS" means the most current North American Architectural Woodwork Standards;

"Objects" means the objects and purposes of AWMAC in accordance with the Articles and these
Bylaws;

"Officers" means the Officers of AWMAC appointed or elected from time to time in accordance
with these Bylaws and an "Officer" means one (1) of them;

"Ordinary Resolution" means:

(1) a resolution passed at a Meeting of AWMAC by a simple majority of the votes cast by those
Members entitled to vote at the Meeting; or

(i) a resolution that has been submitted to the Members and consented to in writing by no less
than all of the Members, in person or by proxy, who would have been entitled to vote on it;

"Person" means a natural person, including a natural person operating through a sole
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proprietorship;

"Regional Boundary" means the Province, Territory, or such other geographically approved area
of a Chapter, being the area within which the Chapter Members must conduct the majority of their
business or be located;

"Special Meeting" means any meeting of the Members which is not an Annual General Meeting,
in each case in such form as and to be held in accordance with the requirements of the Act and
these Bylaws;

"Special Resolution" means:

(1) a resolution passed:

(A) at a Meeting of which not less than 21 days' notice specifying the intention to
propose the resolution has been duly given, and

(B) by the vote of not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of those Members who are
entitled to vote at that Meeting who vote in person or by proxy; or

(i) a resolution proposed and passed as a special resolution at a Meeting of which less than
21 days' notice has been given if all the Members entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting
SO agree; or

(iii) a resolution consented to in writing by all of the Members who would have been entitled at
a Meeting to vote on the resolution in person or, where proxies are permitted, by proxy;

"Supplier Member" means such Entities which have been approved as Supplier Members under
these Bylaws and the Articles; and

"Vice-Chair" means that Director appointed or elected as the Vice-Chair under these Bylaws and
which, for clarity, shall be the Vice President of AWMAC.

1.2 Definitions in Act Apply to Bylaws - Except where they conflict with the definitions contained in these Bylaws,

the definitions in the Act apply to these Bylaws. To the extent of any conflict between the Act and these Bylaws, the Act

will prevail.

1.3 Objects - The objects of AWMAC are those purposes and objects hamed in the Articles, and a copy of the
Articles shall be kept with a copy of these Bylaws. In addition, AWMAC shall promote and work toward the following
objects generally, to the extent they do not conflict with the Articles:

(@)

(b)

(©

to promote the interests of Entities or Persons engaged in the Industry and the business of
supplying, manufacturing and installing architectural woodwork products and similar products
within, and/or exporting from, Canada;

to provide information and assistance to its Members and Entities or Persons dealing with the
Industry, including design professionals, contractors and manufacturers;

to establish, promote and uphold quality architectural woodwork standards;

Draft AWMAC Bylaws for Member Approval | Updated May 10, 2022
Page 4 of 25



V\* ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK | ASSOCIATION DES MANUFACTURIERS
MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION | DE MENUISERIE ARCHITECTURALE
A OF CANADA DU CANADA NATIONAL

(d) to establish ethical business standards and uniform trade practices within the Industry;
(e) to assist in all ways in the improvement of public relations for the Industry;
® to promote close liaison between Members, suppliers, other trades, general contractors, architects,

engineers, suppliers and the general public;

(9) to assist Members in developing and expanding better employee-employer relationships with an
eye toward ensuring the Industry maintains a high standard of competent, satisfied workers to
achieve maximum efficiency;

(h) to formulate and encourage education programs for the training of architectural woodworkers so
that the Industry may benefit from improved methods and increased skills;

(1) to create programs and advocate for manufacturing standards that encourage and promote safety
and best practices in the business of architectural woodwork;

)] to promote the education of the public and Members of AWMAC with respect to the business of
architectural woodwork and the best practices related to the same;

(k) to fund manufacturing or woodworking specific standards and research regarding the business of
architectural woodwork and best practices;

() to promote, encourage and advocate for legislation and regulation for the woodworking industry for
the general good of all;

(m) to hold conferences, meetings and exhibitions for the discussion of woodworking and issues
impacting woodworking;

(n) to hire, engage or otherwise secure the services of Entities or Persons to promote and carry out
the Objects of AWMAC;

(0) to raise funds in any way permissible by the Act to achieve the Objects of AWMAC. This includes
accepting gifts, donations, grants, legacies, bequests and inheritances; and

(p) to provide such further services as are, from time to time, deemed expedient for the protection and
promotion of the bests interests of the Industry.

14 Context - Words using the singular number or the masculine gender shall include the plural number or the
feminine gender, as the case may be, and vice versa and references to persons, organizations or corporations shall
include individuals, partnerships, firms, societies and corporations, all as the context requires.

15 Conduct of AWMAC - AWMAC shall conduct its activities without the purpose of personal gain for any of its
Members, Directors or Officers, except as otherwise explicitly stated in the Bylaws or Articles. Any income or other
assets of AWMAC shall be used in carrying out AWMAC 's Objects or as otherwise outlined herein.

1.6 Approvals — To the extent any approval threshold for any decision or action as outlined in these Bylaws is
met, the Members and/or Directors, as applicable, shall vote or sign such resolutions as may be required to meet
the requirements of the Act in relation to such decision or action.
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ARTICLE 2 - MEMBERSHIP

2.1 Membership — Each Member of a Chapter who holds membership in a membership class also held by
AWMAC as described herein and who is a Member in good standing with their Chapter, shall automatically become
a Member of AWMAC in the same or corresponding category of membership such Member holds in their Chapter.
Membership in a Chapter is subject to the articles and bylaws of the Chapter and AWMAC.

2.2 Classes of Members - The Membership of AWMAC shall consist of the classes set out in the Articles, with
the classes of Membership including:

€)) Manufacturer Members;

(b) Supplier Members;

(c) Installer Members;

(d) Design Members;

(e) Allied Members; and

() Life Members.
23 Manufacturer Member — Any reasonable Entity that operates a Manufacturing Facility producing
architectural woodwork as defined by the AWMAC Standards that operates primarily within the Regional Boundary

of a Chapter and which has been accepted as a Manufacturer Member of such Chapter shall become a
Manufacturing Member with AWMAC in accordance with these Bylaws.

Prior to being accepted as a Manufacturer Member, and at all times in order to remain in good standing as a
Manufacturer Member, such Entity must:

€) have the ability to provide submittals compliant with the Submittals section of the AWMAC
Standards;

(b) have the ability to create their own submittals, and actively produce and manufacture, in a non-
trivial quantity, work from the Casework section of the AWMAC Standards along with work from
three (3) of the following sections of the AWMAC Standards, in each case using their own internal
resources:

() Finishing;

(i) Millwork;

(iir) Stairwork and Rails;

(iv) Walll/Ceiling Surfacing Partitions;

(v) Passage Doors;

(vi) Countertops; and/or
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(vii) Historic Restoration; and

(c) have one (1) or more owners, managers or persons of authority who have oversight or authority
over the Entity's Submittals referred to in Section 2.3(a) of these Bylaws, receive MSE Certification,
and maintain or upgrade such MSE Certification as required by AWMAC.

2.4 Supplier Member — Any reasonable Entity that does not meet the Manufacturer Member requirements but
supplies goods, materials or equipment to, or associated with, the manufacturing or installation of architectural
woodwork within the Regional Boundary of a Chapter and which has been accepted as a Supplier Member of a
Chapter shall become a Supplier Member of AWMAC in accordance with these Bylaws.

25 Installer Member — Any reasonable Entity that does not meet the Manufacturer Member requirements but
installs architectural woodwork projects but does not manufacture architectural woodwork projects within the
Regional Boundary of a Chapter and which has been accepted as an Installer Member of a Chapter shall become
an Installer Member of AWMAC in accordance with these Bylaws. Installer Members must also have one (1) or
more owners, managers or persons of authority receive ISE Certification, and maintain or upgrade such ISE
Certification as required by AWMAC.

2.6 Design _Member - Any reasonable Person or Entity that does not meet the Manufacturer Member
requirements but is engaged in the design or specification of architectural woodwork but does not manufacture
architectural woodwork projects within the Regional Boundary of a Chapter and which has been accepted as a
Design Member of a Chapter shall become a Desigh Member of AWMAC in accordance with these Bylaws.

2.7 Allied Member - Any reasonable Person or Entity that does not meet any other categories of Membership
but is engaged in or operates in an industry or provides education related to or associated with architectural
woodworking within the Regional Boundary of a Chapter and which has been accepted as an Allied Member of a
Chapter shall become an Allied Member of AWMAC in accordance with these Bylaws.

2.8 Life Member — A Chapter, at its discretion, may grant a Person a Life Member membership as an
expression of appreciation for distinguished services. Any such Person shall also become Life Members of AWMAC
in accordance with these Bylaws. Except as otherwise noted herein, Life Members must not actively derive income
from the Industry and must have previously been a voting Member of AWMAC, either directly as a Person voting
Member or indirectly as a representative or employee of an Entity voting Member. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in recognition of the knowledge and experience Life Members bring to the Society and the Industry, Life Members
shall be permitted to earn income from the Industry in the following limited circumstances:

(@) payments directly from AWMAC or a Chapter where such payments are compensation for acting
as an AWMAC Certified GIS Inspector and providing quality inspections on behalf of AWMAC or a
Chapter using the AWMAC Standards;

(b) payments directly from AWMAC or a Chapter where such payments are in relation to providing
expert opinions, reports or consultations on behalf of and as requested by AWMAC or a Chapter;
and/or

(c) payments directly from AWMAC or a Chapter where such payments are compensation for providing

such other limited services to or on behalf of AWMAC or a Chapter in such manner and fashion as
may be requested by AWMAC or a Chapter from time to time.

2.9 Recording of Members — AWMAC shall maintain a register of Members in accordance with the
requirements of the Act, which register shall contain at minimum:
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€) the name of each Member;
(b) the Chapter of which each Member is a member;
(c) the current residential (for Persons who are Members) and business address (for Entities which

are Members) of each Member;
(d) an email address for each Member;

(e) the date on which each Member became a Member and, to the extent applicable, the date on which
such Member ceased to be a Member; and

() the class of Membership pursuant to which each Member exists.

Each Member shall promptly, upon a change to any of the above-noted information, provide AWMAC and their
Chapter with such updated information in writing so that AWMAC may keep their records up to date. To the extent
they fail to do so, AWMAC shall not be held liable for the Member failing to receive any information or notifications.

2.10 Member in Good Standing — A Member shall be in good standing so long as they are actively participating
in the Objects of AWMAC, abiding by AWMAC's Bylaws and policies, paying all Membership Fees and Membership
Fees and remain in good standing with their Chapter.

A Member shall not be in good standing if they fail to pay their Membership Fees and dues (of any kind) or Chapter
Membership Fees and dues (of any kind) for a period of more than sixty (60) days, if they are suspended in
accordance with the terms hereof or if they fail to abide by AWMAC's Bylaws and policies as determined by the
Board, including actively participating in the Objects of AWMAC.

Any Member not in good standing:
€) may not receive, until such time that they return to good standing status, a GIS certificate;

(b) shall be deprived of any benefits they are entitled to in these Bylaws until such time that they return
to good standing status;

(c) may not vote, make a motion nor second a motion at any Meeting of AWMAC, until such time that
they return to good standing status; and

(d) shall be subject to such further restrictions, limits, or conditions established by the Board from time
to time.

2.11  Membership Ongoing - Membership in AWMAC, subject to ongoing membership in a Chapter, is ongoing,
non-transferable and does not require affirmation by the Members or the Board once a Member has been approved.

2.12 Membership Rights and Entitlements — The classes of Membership will carry the following rights and
entitlements:

@ Manufacturer Members:

() will have the right to vote on all matters concerning the affairs of AWMAC, and each
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Manufacturer Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote. For clarity, each Manufacturer
Member shall only have one (1) vote regardless of how many employees, locations or
subsidiaries they have;

shall be entitled to hold (or have a representative hold) office with AWMAC, including Board
positions, in accordance with these Bylaws;

shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, (or have a representative nominated or
appointed), as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board,;

may participate in and receive all benefits of the GIS program; and

shall be entitled to all other privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the
Board from time to time.

Supplier Members:

()

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

will have the right to vote on all matters concerning the affairs of AWMAC, and each
Supplier Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote. For clarity, each Supplier Member shall
only have one (1) vote regardless of how many employees, locations or subsidiaries they
have;

shall be entitled to hold (or have a representative hold) office with AWMAC, including Board
positions, in accordance with these Bylaws;

shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, (or have a representative nominated or
appointed), as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board;
and

shall be entitled to other limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the
Board from time to time.

Installer Members:

()

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

will have the right to vote on all matters concerning the affairs of AWMAC, and each
Installer Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote. For clarity, each Installer Member shall
only have one (1) vote regardless of how many employees, locations or subsidiaries they
have;

shall be entitled to hold (or have a representative hold) office with AWMAC, including Board
positions, in accordance with these Bylaws;

shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, (or have a representative nominated or
appointed), as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board;
and

shall be entitled to other limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the
Board from time to time.

Design Members:
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0] shall not be entitled to vote; and

(i) shall be entitled to limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the Board
from time to time.

(e) Allied Members:
() shall not be entitled to vote; and

(i) shall be entitled to limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the Board
from time to time.

® Life Members:

0] will have the right to vote on all matters concerning the affairs of AWMAC, and each Life
Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote;

(i) shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, as the case may be, to committees of
AWMAC as established by the Board; and

(iii) shall be entitled to other limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the
Board from time to time.

2.13 Membership Entitlement — Subject to the rights outlined herein, in the case of a voting Member which is
a firm, partnership, corporation or other Entity, each member of the firm or partnership and each Director and/or
Officer of the corporation shall be eligible to attend Meetings of AWMAC, shall be entitled to hold office with AWMAC,
shall enjoy the powers and privileges and shall be subject to all duties, obligations and responsibilities of a Member,
except that only one (1) vote per Member (to the extent that Member has voting rights) shall be allowed. Each firm,
partnership or corporate Member will be required to nominate one (1) individual to exercise such voting rights.

2.14 Members with Multiple Classifications — Members cannot become a Member in more than one (1)
membership category at the same time.

2.15 Membership Requirements — It is a requirement that Members, to the extent applicable:

@) actively promote AWMAC and its Objects and actively participate in the various aspects of AWMAC,;
(b) avoid conflicts of interest, including as outlined in any policies of AWMAC regarding the same;

(c) use reasonable efforts to remain compliant with jurisdictional occupational health and safety
requirements; and

(d) do nothing which would bring AWMAC or the architectural woodworking industry into disrepute.

2.16 Membership Designation — A Member's category of membership in AWMAC is subject to any re-
assignment to their membership category in their Chapter. The Chapter, at the discretion of the Chapter Board,
retains the right to re-assign any Chapter Member's membership category to another appropriate membership
category should that Chapter Member no longer meet the requirements of that membership category but instead
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meets the requirements of another membership category in accordance with the Chapter's respective bylaws and
articles. For clarity, a Member's membership category in AWMAC shall be re-assigned to the same membership
category as in their Chapter immediately upon re-assignment in the Chapter. To the extent AWMAC does not have
a corresponding membership category, the Board will determine the closest corresponding category which AWMAC
maintains to re-assign the Member.

2.17  Assignment of Membership — Membership with AWMAC is not assignable or transferrable and will remain
with the initiating applicant Member until terminated under the provisions of these bylaws. A Member with multiple
arms' length corporate entities cannot transfer Membership between entities.

2.18 Membership Ceasing - A Member shall cease to be a Member upon:

(a) that Member resigning their Membership with their Chapter; or

(b) that Member being removed as a Member of their Chapter in accordance with the bylaws or articles
of the Chapter; or

(c) in the instance of a natural Person Member, the death of that Member; or

(d) in the instance of a body corporate or other legal entity Member which is not an individual, the
termination of the corporate existence or legal existence of that Member; or

(e) a Member failing to pay their Membership Fees and dues (of any kind) or Chapter Membership
Fees and dues (of any kind), in whole or in part, for a period of one hundred twenty (120) days
unless otherwise excused by the Board or the Chapter Board, in each case as applicable.

2.19  Voluntary Withdrawal of Member - A Member may terminate its Membership in AWMAC by providing written
notice to AWMAC of its intent to withdraw. A Member may only terminate its Membership with AWMAC if it also
terminates its Membership with the Member's Chapter.

2.20 Membership Discipline — Membership discipline and the responsibility shall rest primarily with the Chapter
of which a Member is a member. Should a Chapter choose to discipline a Chapter Member, the Board shall
implement corresponding discipline on the Member in relation to their status as a Member of AWMAC, including
but not limited to the termination of, suspension or discipline of any Member, including the suspension of their right
to attend Meetings or vote on any matter. Should AWMAC become aware of the conduct of a Member that the
Board believes warrants discipline (including any conduct in violation of any policies or procedures of AWMAC),
AWMAC may refer such conduct to the appropriate Chapter for investigation and possible discipline in accordance
with its policies and procedures. In the event any disciplinary action permitted by the Board herein requires approval
of the Members to enact pursuant to the Act, the Members shall vote their Membership interests in support of the
same.

2.21 FEees On Suspension — In the event that a Member is suspended, the Member shall, nevertheless, remain
obligated to pay all its outstanding dues and assessments, which shall constitute a debt due and owing by the
Member to AWMAC (and/or their Chapter, as the case may be) and shall be recoverable as such.

2.22  Life Member — Except as otherwise permitted herein, in the event a Life Member begins deriving income
from the Industry after being admitted as a Life Member, they must renounce their standing as a Life Member and
all rights associated with the same for both (a) a minimum of twelve (12) months; and (b) until they no longer derive
income from the Industry.
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2.23 Confidentiality — Except to the extent required or permitted by law or with the consent of a Member,
AWMAC will not disclose information regarding any Member to a third party.

2.24  Reinstatement — Any Member which has its Membership terminated and is subsequently reinstated by a
Chapter shall be reinstated as a Member of AWMAC.

ARTICLE 3 - MEMBERSHIP FEES

3.1 Fees Payable by Members - Membership Fees and dues for each class of Members for the upcoming year
shall be fixed by majority vote of the Board. Fees can include, without limitation, (a) annual dues or fees; and (b) special
assessments. Members shall promptly pay when due all fees and assessments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the
extent the Board desires to (a) implement an increase in the annual dues or fees; or (b) implement a special assessment,
such fee increase or special assessment requires approval by the Members by Ordinary Resolution. For any special
assessment, the Board must also provide the Membership with information or documentation on why the special
assessment is required and what it is to be used for. For clarity, to the extent the annual dues or fees are not increased,
no Membership approval is required.

3.2 Fees for the Chapter — Members shall also be Chapter Members, and it is acknowledged that the Chapter
will, from time to time, set Chapter Membership Fees, with such fees, dues and assessments to be set in accordance
with the bylaws and articles of the Chapter.

33 Fees Collected by the Chapter — Upon determination, Membership Fees in AWMAC shall be
communicated to the relevant Chapters of which a Member is a member, and the Chapter shall collect the
Membership Fees on top of the Chapter Membership Fees and shall remit the same to AWMAC in accordance with
AWMAC policies and procedures. In the event the relevant Chapter, for whatever reason, fails to collect the
Membership Fees, the Membership Fees shall be a debt due and owing to AWMAC and may be collected as the
same.

3.4 Calculation of Fees — Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, dues,
fees and assessments payable by Members to AWMAC are a debt due to AWMAC by the Members, are collectable
as such, and are non-refundable.

ARTICLE 4 - MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

4.1 Annual General Meeting - The Annual General Meeting shall be held at such time and place, in accordance
with the Act, as the Board shall decide.

4.2 Special Meetings - The Board may, whenever it sees fit, convene a Special Meeting of the Members.

4.3 Notice of Meetings — Except as otherwise stated in the Bylaws or as required by the Act, written notice of the
time and place of meetings of the Members and an agenda of the business to be transacted shall be given to each
Member, as applicable, at least:

€) seven (7) days before the holding of a Special Meeting; and
(b) twenty-one (21) days before the holding of an Annual General Meeting.
4.4 Minimum Number of Annual General Meetings — The Board shall cause at least one (1) Annual General
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Meeting to be called each calendar year.

4.5 Members Meetings — In addition to all requirements herein, a Special Meeting of the Members shall be
called by the Chair or Vice-Chair upon receipt of a petition signed by at least ten percent (10%) of voting Members
in good standing, setting forth the reasons for calling such meeting.

4.6 Quorum for Meetings — A quorum for the transaction of business at any Meeting of Members shall consist of
at least twenty percent (20%) of voting Members in good standing.

4.7 Robert's Rules — Except to the extent they are inconsistent with these Bylaws, in which case the Bylaws shall
govern, the most current form of Robert's Rules of Order shall govern all meetings of both Members and the Board and
shall be used and relied upon to the extent necessary.

ARTICLE 5 - PROCEEDINGS AT MEMBERS' MEETINGS
5.1 Meeting Agenda - Other than at the Annual General Meeting, the agenda for a Special Meeting shall be that

approved at the Meeting or as provided for in the notice of the Meeting. The agenda for the Annual General Meeting
shall be as outlined in the notice of the Annual General Meeting.

5.2 Proxy Voting — To the extent permitted by the Act, a Member entitled to vote at (a) an Annual General
Meeting of Members; or (b) a Special Meeting of Members at which a Special Resolution is to be passed may vote
by proxy by appointing, in writing (whether electronic or otherwise), a proxy holder, and/or one (1) or more alternative
proxy holders, who are not required to be Members, to attend and act at the meeting in the manner and to the extent
authorized by the proxy and with the authority conferred by it subject to the following requirements:

(@) a proxy is valid only at the Meeting in respect of which it is given or at the continuation of that
Meeting after an adjournment;

(b) a Member may revoke a proxy by providing notice in writing of the revocation to:

0] the registered office of AWMAC no later than the last Business Day preceding the day of
the Meeting, or the day of the continuation of that Meeting after an adjournment of that
meeting, at which the proxy is to be used, or

(i) with the chairperson of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or the day of the continuation
of that Meeting after an adjournment of that Meeting; and

(c) a proxy holder or an alternate proxy holder has the same rights as the Member by whom they were
appointed, including the right to speak at a Meeting of Members in respect of any matter, to vote
by way of ballot at the Meeting, to demand a ballot at the Meeting and, except where a proxy holder
or an alternate proxyholder has conflicting instructions from more than one (1) Member, to vote at
the meeting by way of a show of hands.

5.3 Tie — In the event of a tie on a vote of the Members entitled to vote, the matter shall be considered defeated.

5.4 Voting Procedure

@ unless otherwise required by the Bylaws or pursuant to the Act or any other applicable law, any
resolution put before the Members must be passed by Ordinary Resolution;
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(b) every question shall be decided in the first instance by a show of hands unless any Member demands
arecorded vote;

(©) a declaration by the chairperson of the meeting that a resolution has been carried or not carried and
an entry to that effect in the minutes of AWMAC shall be sufficient evidence of the fact without proof of
the number or proportion of the vote accorded in favour of or against such resolution; and

(d) to the extent permitted by the Act, the Board may permit absentee voting by mail or email so long as
the form of voting enables votes to be gathered in a manner that permits their subsequent verification
and permits the votes to be tallied anonymously. The Board may set the requirements regarding the
amount of time before a meeting with respect to which any such ballots must be received.

55 Conduct of Business at Meeting - Business at all Meetings of the Members shall be conducted according
to these Bylaws and the rules of order adopted by Ordinary Resolution of the Members.

5.6 Resolutions from Floor - Except as limited by the Act, a resolution may be submitted from the floor; however,
for clarity, no decision requiring a Special Resolution may be submitted from the floor.

5.7 Chairperson of Member Meetings - The Chair shall preside at every meeting of the Members; however, if
the Chair is not present or the Chair refuses to preside, the Vice-Chair shall preside. In the absence of both the Chair
and Vice-Chair, then those present at the Meeting shall appoint a chairperson to act at that meeting.

5.8 Virtual Meetings — To the extent permitted by the Act, any Meeting of AWMAC may be held in-person,
electronically or through a combination of both in-person and electronic means. Members may both vote and
participate electronically in Meetings, and such Members will be deemed to be present at such Meetings in person
for the purpose of quorum and voting. From time to time, the Board may, and in accordance with the Act, determine
how voting electronically will take place.

5.9 Order _of Business at the Annual General Meeting — For guidance and not as a mandate, the order of
business at the Annual General Meeting of AWMAC is generally as follows:

@ call to order;

(b) roll call;

(c) adoption of agenda;

(d) adoption of minutes of previous Annual General Meeting;
(e business arising from minutes;

() reading of financial reports;

(9) report of the Board;

(h) report of committees (if any);
0] appointment of the Board;
)] appointment of the accountant for the year;
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(k) correspondence;
)] new business;
(m) acknowledgement of sponsorship; and
(n) adjournment.
ARTICLE 6 - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

6.1 The Board — Subject to anything contained to the contrary in the Bylaws or the Act, the property and affairs of
AWMAC shall be managed by the Board.

6.2 Election of the Board of Directors — Subject to the constating documents of AWMAC, the Board shall
consist of such number of Directors as may be set by the Board from time to time by Ordinary Resolution. In no
instance shall the number of Directors be set such that each Chapter cannot nominate a Director to the Board in
accordance herewith.

6.3 Term of Directors — Unless otherwise determined by the Members by Ordinary Resolution, a term for a
Director position shall be for two (2) years from the date of election until the second Annual General Meeting
following their election. A Director may serve any number of terms as a Director.

6.4 Makeup of Board — The Board shall consist of one (1) representative nominated by each Chapter. The
Members shall elect such nominees in accordance with the terms of these Bylaws. To the extent a Chapter does
not provide a nominee, the existing Board may nominate an individual representing a Manufacturer Member to the
Board in place of the Chapter's representative. To the extent, a Chapter subsequently desires to nominate a
representative, the replacement Board member nominated by the Board instead of the Chapter representative shall
resign (or be removed by the Members) and be replaced by the Chapter's nominated representative if so elected in
accordance with the Bylaws.

6.5 Chapter Nomination of Directors — Each Chapter shall submit, at least two (2) months prior to the Annual
General Meeting of AWMAC, its nhomination of an individual representing either a Manufacturer Member, Installer
Member or Supplier Member of that Chapter as a Director of AWMAC.

6.6 Board Nomination of Directors — The Board may submit, at least two (2) months prior to the Annual
General Meeting of AWMAC, its nomination for one (1) or more individuals representing either a Manufacturer
Member, Installer Member or Supplier Member of a Chapter as a Director of AWMAC.

6.7 Manufacturer Member Majority — In receiving nominations, the Board shall, to the extent possible, ensure
that at least a simple majority of the total number of Directors of AWMAC will be representatives of Manufacturer
Members. If the total number of Manufacturer Member representatives is less than a simple majority, then the Board
may request one (1) or more Chapters to nominate a Manufacturer Member if their nominee is of a different
membership category. The Board shall use best efforts to encourage Manufacturer Members to submit nominees
should the Board not receive sufficient nominations to meet such threshold.

6.8 Election of Directors — A Person who meets any qualification requirements, as set out by the Act and
these Bylaws, to be a Director and who has been duly nominated by the Board or a Chapter in accordance herewith,
shall be elected as a Director.
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6.9 Situations Where Director is Deemed Not Be a Director - A Director shall immediately cease to be a
Director upon:

@ giving their resignation in writing to the Board;

(b) their death;

(c) removal by the Members by Ordinary Resolution;
(d) removal by the members of the Chapter who nominated the Director;
(e) being convicted of an indictable offence, in the event the majority of the Board decides to remove

such Director as a result of such conviction; or
() as otherwise outlined herein.

6.10 Non-Attendance at Meetings - Upon any Director failing to attend or participate in three (3) consecutive
meetings of the Board of which they had notice, and unless the Board has specifically excused the Director from
attendance, such Director shall automatically cease to hold the position of Director. In addition, should any Director
fail to attend at least eighty percent (80%) of Board meetings during one (1) term of their directorship, such Director
shall automatically cease to hold the position of Director.

6.11  Filling Vacancies — Upon a Director ceasing to be a director prior to the end of their term for whatever reason,
the Chapter who nominated such Director shall be entitled to nominate a replacement Director. To the extent the
Chapter fails to do so, the Board shall be permitted, by majority vote, to fill that vacancy. However, the Director appointed
to fill that vacancy shall only serve until the scheduled end of the term of the Director whom they replaced.

6.12 Powers of Board - The Board may exercise all powers and do all acts, and things as AWMAC may exercise
and do, and which are not by these Bylaws or by statute or otherwise lawfully directed or required to be exercised or
done by the Members, but subject nevertheless, to rules, not being inconsistent with either the Application or these
Bylaws, which are made, adopted, revised or replaced from time to time by Members of AWMAC.

6.13 Payment to Directors — Directors, may not receive salaries for their services as a Director. A Director may
serve AWMAC in any other capacity and receive compensation for those services. A Director may be reimbursed for
reasonable expenses incurred by them to attend an AWMAC meeting or to conduct the business of AWMAC if
approved by the majority of the Board in advance.

6.14  Quorum — A quorum of Directors is a majority of the Directors. In addition to the foregoing, of the Directors
present, at least a majority must be nominees of Manufacturer Members for a quorum to be present.

6.15 Votes to Govern at Meetings of the Board — At all meetings of the Board, every question shall be decided
by majority vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair of the meeting shall not have a second or cast a vote
in addition to an original vote.

6.16  Action by Consent of Board Without Meeting — Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board
may be taken without a meeting, and with the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of Directors, if all Members
of the Board consent in writing, including by e-mail or facsimile, to the action, Such consent may be given individually
or collectively.

6.17 Duties of Directors — Directors shall discharge their duties in good faith, with ordinary care, and in a
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manner they reasonably believe to be in the best interest of AWMAC.

6.18 Policies — The Board shall have the ability to, from time to time, create such policies and rules governing
the affairs and conduct of AWMAC as the Board deems fit, including a code of conduct. Members and Directors
must comply with all policies and rules in order to remain in good standing as a Member of AWMAC. The Board
may also, in its discretion, adopt such policies or rules as are in place or passed by Chapters, and Members must
comply with all such policies and rules.

6.19 Insurance — AWMAC shall at all times maintain, to the extent possible, Director and Officer insurance.

6.20 Employees and Executive Director — The Board may, from time to time, hire such employees as are
required for the purposes of the Objects of AWMAC, including, without limitation, an Executive Director.

ARTICLE 7 - PROCEEDINGS OF BOARD MEETINGS

7.1 Freguency and Location of Board Meetings - The meetings of the Board may be held at any time and
place to be determined by the Chair in consultation with the Board, including virtually. Notwithstanding anything in the
Bylaws to the contrary, the Board may set a schedule of Board meetings for a certain period or periods. In such case,
written notice of each such meeting is not required to be given to the Directors.

7.2 Electronic Means — Board meetings may take place electronically, in person or through a mixture of both.
Board members shall be permitted to attend and vote at Board meetings electronically.

7.3 Notice of Board Meetings — Except as noted herein, written notice of the time and place of a meeting of the
Board shall be given to each Director at least five (5) Business Days before the meeting. A Director may, at any time,
waive notice in writing of any such meeting and may ratify, approve and confirm any or all proceedings taken or had
thereat.

7.4 Chair Convening Meeting - The Chair may convene a meeting of the Board.

7.5 Voting Procedure — Voting shall be by show of hands unless the majority of the Directors present and eligible
to vote shall otherwise determine.

7.6 Tie Vote — In the event of a tie vote, the motion shall be declared lost.

7.7 Recorded Votes — Directors may request that their vote be recorded.

7.8 Resolutions in Writing — A resolution in writing, signed by all the Directors and deposited with the Chair, is
as valid and effective as a resolution of the Board passed at a meeting of the Board.

7.9 Conflict of Interest — Subject to any Board policies dealing with this subject matter, a Director shall not vote
on a matter in which that Director has a conflict of interest. Where a Director believes a conflict of interest on a
given matter exists, that Director shall make that declaration at a meeting. The majority of the rest of the Directors
in attendance at the meeting shall determine whether the Director in question shall be allowed to remain in
attendance for that part of the meeting where the matter is discussed. If a Director or Directors is asked to leave
the room for part of the meeting due to the determination of a conflict, resolutions may be passed on the subject
regarding such conflict by the majority of those remaining at the meeting.

7.10 Role of Nominated Directors — Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, no Director shall
be in a conflict of interest simply due to that Director's membership with a Chapter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in
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acting as a Director of AWMAC, each Director must act in the capacity as Director of AWMAC and, accordingly,
must make decisions in the best interests of AWMAC as required by law, and not as a representative of their
nominating Chapter. Directors shall be permitted to bring forward issues and perspectives from their respective
Chapters, but all decisions as Directors of AWMAC shall be made in the best interest of AWMAC and all of its
Members.

ARTICLE 8 - OFFICERS

8.1 Appointment of Officer Positions — The Board shall appoint Officers of AWMAC from within the Board
for two (2) year terms, including, without limitation, the following Officers:

(a) President;

(b) Vice President;

(c) Secretary; and

(d) Treasurer.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Secretary and Treasurer may be the same Person. Further, if the
Members so determine, the positions of President and Vice President may be elected by the Members instead of
appointed by the Board.

In addition to the above, the Board may, in its discretion, appoint the outgoing President into an Officer role
entitled "Past President”, but is not obligated to do so. Additionally, the Board may, from time to time, appoint such

other Officers as they so desire in accordance with and as permitted by the Act.

8.2 Chair and Vice-Chair

@ The Chair of AWMAC shall be the President of AWMAC.
(b) The Vice-Chair of AWMAC shall be the Vice President of AWMAC.
(c) No Person shall serve both as the Chair and Vice-Chair at the same time.

8.3 Restriction on Officer Positions — The Board or the Members may, from time to time, set restrictions on
Officer positions and require that certain Officer positions be filled by certain classes (or representatives of particular
classes) of Members. The Board or the Members may also, from time to time, set progressions for Officer positions,
such as requiring that the Vice President shall, to the extent they so desire, be appointed as the President at the end of
the term of the President.

8.4 Removal of Officers — The Board, upon a majority vote of the Directors, may remove any Officer which the
Board deems necessary. To the extent that the President and Vice President were elected by the Members rather than
appointed by the Board, the President and Vice President shall only be removed by the Members.

8.5 Remuneration — No Officer shall be remunerated for their position, but Officers may be reimbursed for
reasonable expenses incurred by them to attend an AWMAC meeting or to conduct the business of AWMAC if approved
by the Board in advance.

ARTICLE 9 - DUTIES OF PRESCRIBED OFFICERS
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9.1 Powers and Duties of President — The President shall:

(@)

(b)

(©

)

)

()

)

(h)

(i)

0)

()

()
(m)

be President of AWMAC and subject to the authorities of the Board, and authorities set by the Board,
have supervision of the business and affairs of AWMAC and shall have such other additional powers
and duties as the Board may specify from time to time;

attend at all, and preside over, each meeting of the Board and of the Members, and in doing so, be
the chairperson of such meetings;

vote on all matters before the Board and the Members in accordance with the Bylaws and the Act
and subject to the conflict of interest provisions;

attend at all committees of the Board as an ex-officio member unless the Chair is appointed by the
Board to be a member of the committee beyond its capacity as an ex-officio member;

not be a chairperson of a committee unless the members of the committee agree that the President of
the Board shall be the chairperson of the committee;

if the Secretary is not present at a meeting of the Board, a meeting of the Members, or a meeting of a
Board Committee, either appoint a Board member to or if they do not appoint a Board member to, be
the recording secretary of the meeting and shall therefore enter or cause to be entered in records kept
for that purpose, minutes of all proceedings at such meetings;

otherwise ensure that the Secretary or a recording secretary is present at such meetings and shall
therefore enter or cause to be entered in records kept for that purpose, minutes of all proceedings at
such meetings;

in the event of a vacancy of the Officer positions of the Treasurer or Secretary, fulfill the duties of the
Treasurer as required by the Bylaws, Act, or as set by the Board;

give or cause to be given as and when instructed, all notice to Members, the Board, Officers, auditors
and members of committees of the Board,;

provide operational reports or other statements as to the affairs of the Board, as the Board may require
from time to time;

certify any documents of AWMAC except when some other Officer or agent has been appointed for
any such purpose;

ensure that the policies and programs of AWMAC are implemented; and

advise and inform the Board on the operations and affairs of AWMAC.

9.2 Powers and Duties of the Vice President - The Vice President shall:

(@)

(b)

in the case of the absence of or the inability of the President to conduct their duties, be vested with
the powers and duties of the President;

in the event of a vacancy of the Officer positions of the Treasurer or Secretary, and if assigned by the
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President, fuffill the duties of the Treasurer as required by the Bylaws, Act, or as set by the Board; and

(c) exercise such other powers and authority and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the
Board.

9.3 Powers and Duties of the Treasurer - The Treasurer shall:

@ keep or cause to be kept proper accounting records in compliance with the Act and shall be responsible
for the deposit of monies and other valuable effects of AWMAC in the name and to the credit of
AWMAC in such banks or other depositories as the Board may from time to time designate;

(b) be responsible for the disbursement of the funds of AWMAC,;

(©) render to the Board, whenever so directed, an account of all financial transactions and the financial
position of AWMAC,;

(d) in the event of a vacancy of the Officer position of the Secretary, fulfill the duties of the Secretary as
required by the Bylaws, Act, or as set by the Board; and

(e) exercise such other powers and authority and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the
Board.

9.4 Powers and Duties of the Secretary - The Secretary shall:

@ be the custodian of the corporate seal, if any, of AWMAC and shall have charge of all books, papers,
reports, certificates, records, documents, registers and instruments belonging to AWMAC except when
some other Officer or agent has been appointed for any such purpose;

(b) be responsible for registering or filing of, or causing to the registered or filed, all reports, certificates
and all of the documents required by law to be registered or filed by AWMAC;

(©) be the recording secretary of all meetings at which the Secretary is present and enter or cause to be
entered in records kept for that purpose, minutes of all proceedings at such meetings, unless another
Person has been appointed as recording secretary for that meeting; and

(d) exercise such other powers and authority and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the

Board.

9.5 Signing Authority — The signing authorities for AWMAC are as follows:

(@)
(b)

(©

(d)

all Officers and Directors are eligible to be signing officers on behalf of AWMAC;

the Board may appoint such other employees or representatives of AWMAC as signing officers as
it deems fit;

all cheques, payments or electronic fund transfers must be signed and approved, as applicable, by
two signing officers; and

the Board may, from time to time, implement such other policies regarding signing, electronic fund
transfers or payments as it deems fit.
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For clarity, unless otherwise required by the Act or a third party, the signing of documents on behalf of
AWMAC may be completed electronically.

ARTICLE 10 - COMMITTEES
10.1 Delegation of Board Powers - The Board may delegate some, but not all, of its powers to committees as it

deems fit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may not delegate final decision-making power to any committee,
and the Board must ratify all such decisions of committees to be effective.

10.2 Board Committees - The Board may appoint standing or ad hoc committees that it deems necessary
consisting of Directors and others and may assign duties and responsibilities to the committees that are not inconsistent
with the Act and may make regulations governing their conduct.

10.3 Committees Accountable to Board - All Board committees shall be accountable to the Board.

ARTICLE 11 - ANNUAL REVIEW OR AUDIT ENGAGEMENT

11.1  Annual Review or Audit Engagement — To the extent required by the Act or required by the Members by
Ordinary Resolution, AWMAC shall appoint a public accountant as required by the Act. The books and records will be
reviewed or audited by the public accountant annually as soon as possible after each fiscal year-end of AWMAC. If not
required by the Act or the Members, audited financials are not required.

11.2  Public Accountant Appointed at Annual General Meeting — To the extent reviewed or audited financials
are required pursuant to Section 11.1, at each Annual General Meeting, the Members shall appoint the public
accountant to hold office until they are re-elected, or their successor is elected at the next following Annual General
Meeting.

ARTICLE 12 - SEAL

12.1  Seal - The Board may provide a seal for AWMAC, and it shall have power from time to time to change such
seal.

12.2  Seal Affixation - The seal shall be affixed only when authorized by a resolution of the Board, and then only in
the presence of the Persons prescribed in the resolution, or if no Persons are prescribed, in the presence of any two
(2) Directors.

ARTICLE 13 - FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES AND OPERATIONS
13.1  Fiscal Year of AWMAC - The fiscal year of AWMAC shall terminate on a day in each year to be fixed by the

Board, and the financial statements of AWMAC 's affairs for presentation to the Members at the Annual General Meeting
shall be made up to that date.

13.2 Borrowing — To the extent permitted by the Act, and for the purpose of carrying out its Objects, AWMAC
may, by a majority vote of the Board, borrow, raise or secure money in such manner as it sees fit, and in particular
by the issue of debentures.

13.3 Disclosure — Subject to the Act, AWMAC shall provide the Members with the financial statements and
documents required by the Act, including Section 172(1) of the Act.
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ARTICLE 14 - MINUTES

14.1  Minutes to be Entered - The Directors shall cause minutes to be entered in books provided for:

@ all appointments or elections of Officers;
(b) all names of all Directors present at each meeting of the Directors; and
(c) all resolutions and proceedings of meetings of the Members and the Board.

14.2  Minutes Endorsed by Chair - Any minutes of the Members and the Board meetings, if signed or endorsed
by the chairperson of that meeting or the Chair of the next succeeding meeting, shall be receivable as prima facie
evidence of the matters stated in such minutes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and for clarity, the endorsement by the
Chair of the minutes shall not substitute for the approval and adoption of the minutes by the Board or Members, as
applicable.

ARTICLE 15 - NOTICE

15.1 People Entitled to Notice of Meetings of Members - Notice of any Meetings of Members shall be given to:

@ every Entity or Person shown on the register of Members as a Member on the day notice is given;
and
(b) the auditor or public accountant, if appointed, in the case of an Annual General Meeting.

15.2  Method of Providing Notice - Any notice which is required or permitted to be given under these Bylaws
shall be in writing and shall be:

€)) delivered or mailed by regular mail to the address of the recipient, to whom is it intended, last known
to AWMAC as recorded on its books or records; or

(b) sent by electronic mail to the recipient's electronic mail address last known to AWMAC as recorded
on its books or records.

15.3 Deemed Delivery of Notice

@ Any notice delivered before 4:30 p.m. (local time) on a Business Day shall be deemed to have been
received on the date of delivery.

(b) Any notice delivered by hand or sent by email after 4:30 p.m. (local time) on a Business Day or
delivered by hand or sent on a day other than a Business Day, as the case may be, shall be deemed
to have been received on the next Business Day. Any notice mailed by regular mail shall be deemed
to have been received four (4) days after its postmarked date.

(©) Further, if regular mail service is interrupted by strike, slow-down, force majeure or other cause after a
notice has been sent by regular mail, such notice will not be deemed to be received until received. If
standard mail service is impaired when sending a message, then the other means of sending such
notice shall be the only effective means of giving notice.

ARTICLE 16 - INSPECTION OF CORPORATE RECORDS
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16.1 Inspection of Corporate Records - A Member may inspect the books and records of AWMAC, in accordance
with the Act, at any time upon giving reasonable written notice to the Board and arranging a time satisfactory to the
Chair or Vice-Chair, respectively. Each Director shall, at all times, have access to such books and records.

ARTICLE 17 - CONDUCT

17.1  Use of AWMAC Standards — Manufacturer Members must use the current AWMAC Standards, by default,
as their minimum quality guidelines for all work produced or completed that (a) does not have specific specifications or
instructions outlined which vary from the AWMAC Standards; and (b) all work where the AWMAC Standards are
referenced. Manufacturer Members should promote or encourage building to the AWMAC Standards where conflicting
specifications or instructions are not in place or being used.

ARTICLE 18 - BYLAWS

18.1  Alteration of Bylaws — These Bylaws or Articles may be amended by an Ordinary Resolution of the Members,
except for the following, which must be amended by a Special Resolution of the Members in accordance with the Act,
or any other matters which the Act may require, from time to time, be approved by Special Resolution:

@ change the name of AWMAC;

(b) change the province in which AWMAC's 's registered office is situated;

(c) add, change or remove any restriction on the activities that AWMAC may carry on;

(d) create a new class of Members;

(e) change a condition required for being a Member;

® change the designation of any class of Members or add, change or remove any rights and

conditions of any such class;

(9) divide any class of Members into two or more classes and fix the rights and conditions of each
class;

(h) add, change or remove a provision respecting the transfer of a membership;

() increase or decrease the number of the minimum of or maximum number of Directors fixed by the
articles;

) change the statement of the purpose of AWMAC,;

(k) change the statement concerning the distribution of property remaining on liquidation after the

discharge of any liabilities of AWMAC,;
o change the manner of giving notice to Members entitled to vote at a meeting of Members;
(m) change the method of voting by Members not in attendance at a meeting of Members; or

(n) add, change or remove any other provision permitted by the Act to be set out in the articles.
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MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION | DE MENUISERIE ARCHITECTURALE
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ARTICLE 19 - DISSOLUTION OF AWMAC

19.1 Special Resolution to Dissolve - AWMAC may only be dissolved by Special Resolution and in accordance
with the Act.

19.2  Funds on Dissolution — Any funds remaining in AWMAC upon dissolution after all liabilities and other
requirements of the Act have been satisfied, subject to any restrictions herein, in the Act or the Articles, shall be
distributed in accordance with and as determined by the Board. For clarity, any Member who ceases to have
Membership prior to any dissolution will have no claims to any assets of AWMAC.

THESE BYLAWS DATED effective this ____ day of , 2022 and approved by Special Resolution of
the Members of AWMAC on this ____ day of , 2022.
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MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION | DE MENUISERIE ARCHITECTURALE
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SCHEDULE "A"

Form of Proxy

Proxy

I, , being a member of the ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK MANUFACTURERS
ASSOCIATION OF CANADA hereby nominate, constitute and appoint , or in the absence
of as my attorney, representative and/or proxy holder with full

power and authority to attend, vote and otherwise act for me in my name and on my behalf at the annual (or
special) meeting of shareholders of the Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada to be held
at , on the day of , A.D. 20___ and at any and all adjournments thereof, with full

power of substitution.

| hereby revoke all other proxies given which might be used in respect of such meeting and any adjournments
thereof.

Given this day of , 20

[Name of Member]

Per:

Draft AWMAC Bylaws for Member Approval | Updated May 10, 2022
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v\* ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK ‘ ASSOCIATION DES MANUFACTURIERS
MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION | DE MENUISERIE ARCHITECTURALE
A C  OFcanADA DU CANADA NATIONAL

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS & BOARD APPOINTMENTS

June 11, 2022
Fairmont Palliser | Crystal Ballroom | Calgary, Alberta
Registration 11:30 a.m. MDT | AGM & Luncheon 12:00 p.m. MDT

AWMAC Chapter Nominations

The AWMAC Board of Directors (“AWMAC Board”) has received the name of each AWMAC Chapter
representative who will serve as a Director on the AWMAC Board for 2022-2023, once elected by the
members at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).

Full Name: AWMAC Member Class: AWMAC Chapter:
Menza Bouwman Associate British Columbia
Stephanie Roll Manufacturer Southern Alberta
Mark Whitman Manufacturer Northern Alberta
Kasia Robinson Manufacturer Saskatchewan
Rick Mostert Manufacturer Manitoba

Peter Gallagher Manufacturer Ontario

Martin Boutet Manufacturer Quebec

Tracy Wright Associate Atlantic

AWMAC Board Nomination

The AWMAC Board has nominated Jeff Clermont to serve as an AWMAC Director for 2022—-2023 once
elected by the members at the AGM.

AWMAC Board Appointments

3.1. The AWMAC Board has appointed Rudy Bardeck to serve as a hon-voting Board Member in the
position of Immediate Past President and Officer for 2022—2023 upon conclusion of the AGM.

3.2. The AWMAC Board has appointed the following individuals to serve as Officers for 2022-2023, in
the positions indicated, once elected by the members at the AGM.

= Jeff Clermont, AWMAC President
=  Mark Whitman, AWMAC Vice-President
= Tracy Wright, AWMAC Secretary/Treasurer

Director Nominations & Board Appointments | AGM | June 11, 2022
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Corporalions Canada Corporations Canada

Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act (NFP Act)

Form 4004
Articles of Amendment

1 - Current corporate name

Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada
Association des manufacturiers de menuiserie architecturale du Canada

2 - Corporation number
0286788 -

3 - The articles are amended as follows: (complete all applicable sections)
A - The corporation amends its name to:

i. Corporate Name

il. Corporate name in the other official language (if applicable)

B - The corporation amends the province or territory in Canada where the registered office is situated to:

C - The corporation amends the number of directors to: (for a fixed number, indicate the same number in both boxes)

Minimum number } Maximum number

D - Other amendments, please specify:
SEE ATTACHED SCHEDULE "A™.

4 - Declaration
I hereby certify that | am a director or an authorized officer of the corporation.

Signature:

Print name: Telephone Number:

Note: A person who makes, or assists in making, a false or misleading statement is guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to
a fine of not more than $5,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than six months or to both (subsectlon 262(2) of the NFP Act).

i+l

ISED-ISDE 3590F (2018-11} Ca.nada




ATTACHED TO AND FORMING PART OF FORM 4004 —~ ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT

submitted by

ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION OF CANADA

{COPORATION NUMBER 286788 - 5)

SCHEDULE "A"

ITEM 3(D} — OTHER AMENDMENTS

Statement of the purpose of the corporation

(a)

(b)

{c

(d

(e)

()

(9}

(h)

(i

{

(k}

to promote the interests of entities or persons engaged in the industry of architectural
woodwork and the business of supplying, manufacturing and installing architectural
woodwork products and similar products within, and/or exporting from, Canada;

to provide information and assistance to its members and entities or persons dealing with
the architectural woodwork industry, including design professionals, contractors and
manufacturers;

to establish, promote and uphoid quality architectural woodwork standards;

to establish ethical business standards and uniform trade practices within the
architectural woodwork industry;

to assist in all ways in the improvement of public relations for the architectural woodwork
industry;

to promote close liaison between members, suppliers, other trades, general contractors,
architects, engineers, suppliers and the general public;

to assist members in developing and expanding better employee-employer relationships
with an eye toward ensuring the architectural woodwork industry maintains a high
standard of competent, satisfied workers to achieve maximum efficiency;

to formulate and encourage education programs for the training of architectural
woodworkers so that the architectural woodwork industry may benefit from improved
methods and increased skills;

to create programs and advocate for manufacturing standards that encourage and
promote safety and best practices in the business of architectural woodwork;

to promote the education of the public and members of AWMAC with respect to the
business of architectural woodwork and the best practices related to the same;

to fund manufacturing or woodworking specific standards and research regarding the
business of architectural woodwork and best practices;

00086703/0003/00297620
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(m)

to promote, encourage and advocate for legislation and regulation for the woodworking
industry for the general good of all; and

to hold conferences, meetings and exhibitions for the discussion of woodworking and
issues impacting woodwaorking.

The classes, or regional or other groups, of members that the corporation is authorized to establish

The corporation is authorized to establish six (6) classes of members. The membership classes include:

1.

Manufacturer Members — each of who shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend
all meetings of the membhers of the corporation and each of who shall have one {1) vote
at each such meeting;

Supplier Members — each of who shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all
meetings of the members of the corporation and each of who shall have one (1) vote at
each such meeting;

Installer Members — each of who shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all
meetings of the members of the corporation and each of who shall have one (1) vote at
each such meeting;

Design Members — each of who shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all
meetings of the members of the corporation, but who shall not have the right to vote,
except for meetings at which the Act requires each class of members to vote separately
as a class;

Allied Members — each of who shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all
meetings of the members of the corporation, but who shall not have the right to vote,
except for meetings at which the Act requires each class of members to vote separately
as a class; and

Life Members — each of who shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all
meetings of the members of the corporation and each of who shall have one (1) vote at
each such meeting.

The Bylaws of the corporation set out {a) the conditions of membership in each class; (b} the manner of
withdrawing from a class of members or transferring membership to another class and the conditions of
transfer; and (c) the conditions on which membership in a class ends.

Statement regarding the distribution of property remaining on liquidation

Any property remaining in the corporation on liquidation after all liabilities and other requirements of the
Act have been satisfied shall be distributed in accordance with and as determined by the Board. For clarity,

00086703/0003/00257620



any member who ceases to have membership prior to any dissolution will have no claims to any assets of
the corporation.
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June 2, 2022

Independent Practitioner’s Review Engagement Report

To the Members of
Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers
Association of Canada that comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and the
statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and the
related notes, which comprise significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Practitioner’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our
review. We conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements, which require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily
consisting of making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate, and applying
analytical procedures, and evaluates the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those
performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial
statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Architectural Woodwork
Manufacturers Association of Canada as at December 31, 2021 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.

;ﬁWW LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

111-5th Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 513
T: +1 403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825

“PwC" refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.



Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2021

2021 2020
$ $
Assets

Current assets
Cash 101,926 70,445
Internally restricted cash (note 4) 150,000 150,000
Accounts receivable 47,321 55,330
Goods and services tax receivable 83 -
Guaranteed investment certificates (note 5) 203,259 207,941
Guarantee trust account (notes 6 and 7) 274,475 257,428
Prepaid expenses 66,472 9,688
843,536 750,832

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 63,936 21,343

1
! Goods and services tax payable 12,541
| 63,936 33,884
Net Assets
| Net assets restricted for guarantees (note 7) 274,475 257,428
| Net assets designated for strategic initiatives (note 8) - 57,125
Unrestricted net assets 505,125 402,395
779,600 716,948
843,536 750,832

y Z President y L Treasurer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020
" $ $
Revenue

Membership assessment 257,200 265,200
Guarantee and inspection service assessment 100,177 101,715
Sponsorship 71,100 76,600
Manual sales 23,601 ‘ 1,063
Interest and other 5,449 8,901
457,527 453,479

Expenses
Administrative 198,770 169,952
Marketing and tradeshows 64,991 17,950
Other (note 9) 56,214 25,104
Architectural woodwork standards manual 40,128 32,656
Partner program 18,700 17,600
Translation 5,205 1,639
Website 4,513 6,153
Meeting and travel 3,266 17,220
Guarantee and inspection service program 3,088 3,560
Awards and recognition - 75
394,875 291,909
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 62,652 161,570
Net assets — Beginning of year 716,948 555,378
Net assets — End of year 779,600 716,948

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2021

2021 2020
$ $
Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 62,652 . 161,570
Changes in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable 8,009 1,314
Prepaid expenses (56,784) 7,042
Guarantee trust account - 2,140
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42,593 (18,964)
Goods and services tax (receivable) payable (12,624) 9,979
43,846 163,081
Investing activities
Maturing of guaranteed investment certificates 409,054 405,844
Purchase of guaranteed investment certificates (404,372) (413,977)
Allocation to GIS trust account (17,047) (16,759)
{12,365) (24,892)
Change in cash during the year 31,481 138,189
Cash — Beginning of year 70,445 (67,744)
Cash - End of year 101,926 70,445

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

1 Purpose of organization
Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada (the Association) was incorporated by Letters
Patent under the Canada Corporations Act on November 6, 1992 as a non-profit association of regional
associations and continued under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act on June 11, 2014.

The primary objectives of the Association are:

i)  To develop and promote the use of quality standards for the manufacturing and installation of
architectural woodwork;

i) To promote adherence to quality standards in the manufacturing and installation of architectural
woodwork; and

iii) To promote sustainable practices in the woodworking industry.
2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The Association prepares these financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations (ASNPO) as issued by the Canadian Accounting Standards Board.

Cash
Cash consists of funds held on deposit with a chartered Canadian financial institution.
Revenue recognition

The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Any restricted contributions are
recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenses are incurred.

Any unrestricted contributions are recognized as received or receivable if the amount can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Membership and guarantee and inspection service assessments, manual sales, sponsorship and interest and
other revenue are recognized as earned, when the amounts can be reasonably estimated and collection is
reasonably assured.

Financial instruments

The Association’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, guaranteed investment certificates,
guarantee trust account, goods and services tax receivable/payable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

€y}




Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

Financial assets are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period when there are indications that
the assets may be impaired. An impairment charge is recognized when the carrying amount of a financial
instrument is greater than the recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment can be reversed in
future periods to the extent of the impairment of the original indicators.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ASNPO requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include
recoverability of accounts receivable. Actual results could differ from these estimates, and these differences
could be material.

Allocation of expenses

The Association allocates its costs of contracted services to six functional areas: partner program, website,
marketing and tradeshows, the sounding board, apprenticeship contest and administrative. The allocation is
based on actual costs spent on each function.

Government assistance

Grants and government assistance are accounted for as non-operating income when there is reasonable
assurance that the amounts will be received.

3 COVID-19 pandemic

In March 2020, due to the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19), the World Health
Organization declared a global pandemic. The pandemic has caused significant financial market declines and
social dislocation. This has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the
spread of the virus. The situation is dynamic, with various cities and countries around the world responding in
different ways to address the outbreak.

The Association has taken various steps to help mitigate the impact of this pandemic, including the use of
government financial relief programs and closely monitoring cash flows. The Association believes that these
steps will help mitigate the overall risk to its ability to continue to operate.

The extent of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Association’s business activities is uncertain. If the
demand for the Association’s services and/or the overall economy are impacted for an extended period of time,
the financial results of the Association may be materially adversely affected. The Association will continue to
monitor any long-term impacts of the pandemic on its employees and business activities.

(2)




Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

4 Internally restricted cash

The Board of Directors has internally restricted cash to help ensure the long-term ability of the Association to
meet its mission and purpose. The internally restricted cash will allow the Association to manage cash flows,
sustain operations, cover unexpected loss of revenues or unforeseen expenses, and to cover all commitments,
including contractual and employer obligations, outstanding bills, and other related expense, subject to
approval by the Board of Directors.

5 Guaranteed investment certificates
Guaranteed investment certificates (GICs) bear interest at rates of 0.15% — 0.30% in 2021 (2020 - 0.15% —
0.30%) and mature between January 5 to January 30, 2022. GICs are classified as current assets when the
remaining term to maturity is less than one year from the date of the statement of financial position.

6 Guarantee trust account
The guarantee trust account has been established for allocating a portion of funds from the guarantee and

inspection service assessment based on guarantee certificates issued. The trust account is managed by the
Association’s Board of Directors.

2021 2020

$ $

TD GIS account ’ 67,958 56,315
GIS trust: investments: GIC 704-06 103,258 100,556
GIS trust: investments: GIC 704-07 103,259 100,557
Balance — End of year 274 475 257,428

7 Net assets restricted for guarantees

As a result of the nature of its operations, the Association may become involved with disputes related to the
issuance of guarantee certificates. As a result, the Board of Directors has internally restricted net assets to fund
potential future claims that may be made against the Association (the third guarantor should a dispute arise).
Funds have been set aside in various GICs and a bank account with a financial institution, described as the
guarantee trust account on the statement of financial position (note 6). However, the Association believes that
its exposure remains limited due to its past history of making such payments and its overall position in the line

of guarantors.
2021 2020
$ $
Balance — Beginning of year 257,428 240,669
Allocation from unrestricted net assets 17,047 16,759
Balance — End of year 274 475 257,428

(3)




Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

8 Net assets designated for strategic initiatives

The Board of Directors has internally restricted net assets to cover expenditures for strategic initiatives.

2021 2020

$ $

Balance — Beginning of year 57,125 57,125

Strategic initiative expenses during the year 57,125 -

Balance — End of year - 57,125

9 Other expenses

Other expenses consist of the following:

2021 2020

$ $

Professional fees 47,900 22,596

Insurance 3,824 1,688

Other 4,490 820

56,214 25,104

10 Financial instruments risks
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Association will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely basis or at a
reasonable cost. The Association manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its operating requirements. The
Association prepares budget and cash forecasts to ensure it has sufficient funds to fulfill its obligations. Further,
the Association sets up a reserve for potential claims as described in note 7. There has been no change to the
risk exposure from the prior year.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in a

financial loss. The Association deals with its chapters who collect assessments from their members of the
Association. There has been no change to the risk exposure from the prior year.

@




Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in
the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Association manages
exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Association is exposed to interest rate risk
as its GICs have fixed interest rates.

11 Comparative figures

Certain comparative amounts for the prior year have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s financial
statement presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on the comparative year’s net income.

(5)
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	5. Draft AWMAC Bylaws for Member Approval.pdf
	ARTICLE 1 -  INTERPRETATION
	1.1 In these Bylaws, so far as the context does not otherwise require:
	(a) "Act" means the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act, SC 2009, c 23, including any regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any statute or regulations that may be substituted for the Act, in each case as amended and as may be in force from time...
	(b) "Allied Member" means such Persons or Entities which have been approved as Allied Members under these Bylaws and the Articles;
	(c) "Annual General Meeting" means that annual general meeting of the Members to be held in accordance with the requirements of the Act and these Bylaws;
	(d) "Articles" means the articles of AWMAC filed with the Federal Corporate Registrar from time to time;
	(e) "AWMAC" means the Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada;
	(f) "AWMAC Standards" means the most-current NAAWS, including all errata and new editions, as may be adopted by AWMAC from time to time by a vote of not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the Board members who cast a vote at a duly called and con...
	(g) "Board" means the Board of Directors of AWMAC;
	(h) "Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or federal statutory holiday;
	(i) "Bylaws" means this bylaw and any other bylaws of AWMAC as may be approved and in force in accordance with the requirements of the Act, in each case, as amended;
	(j) "Chair" means that Director appointed or elected as the Chair of the Board under these Bylaws and which, for clarity, shall be the President of AWMAC;
	(k) "Chapter" means one (1) of the following provincial, territorial, or geographically approved chapters of AWMAC, as applicable, and including:
	(i) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada – Atlantic Chapter;
	(ii) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada (Québec Chapiter) (AWMAC);
	(iii) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada – Ontario Chapter;
	(iv) A.W.M.A.C. – Manitoba Chapter Inc.;
	(v) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada – Saskatchewan Chapter, Inc.;
	(vi) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada Northern Alberta Chapter;
	(vii) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada Southern Alberta Chapter;
	(viii) Architectural Woodwork Manufacturers Association of Canada British Columbia Chapter; or
	(ix) any other provincial, territorial or geographically approved Chapter of AWMAC that may be duly incorporated and recognized and approved by the Board as a regional AWMAC Chapter from time to time;

	(l) "Chapter Board" means the Board of Directors of a Chapter;
	(m) "Chapter Member" means those members of a Chapter from time to time;
	(n) "Chapter Membership Fees" means the fees, dues or assessments set by a Chapter for payment due by members of such Chapter from time to time;
	(o) "Design Member" means such Persons or Entities which have been approved as Design Members under these Bylaws and the Articles;
	(p) "Directors" means the Directors of AWMAC appointed from time to time, and a "Director" means one (1) of them;
	(q) "Entity" or "Entities" means a firm, corporation, partnership or other legal entity of any kind, but does not include a Person;
	(r) "Executive Director" means a Person hired by AWMAC to act as its executive director;
	(s) "GIS" means the Guarantee and Inspection Service;
	(t) "Guarantee and Inspection Service" means a country-wide program of AWMAC that guarantees architectural woodwork meets or exceeds industry standards;
	(u) "Industry" means the architectural woodwork industry in Canada, including as more particularly defined or outlined in the AWMAC Standards;
	(v) "Installer Member" means such Entities which have been approved as Installer Members under these Bylaws and the Articles;
	(w) "Installer Standards Exam" means the current series of questions to determine the knowledge of a Person, being a representative of an Entity, of the AWMAC Standards and GIS program as it relates to the installation of architectural woodwork. For c...
	(x) "ISE" means the Installer Standards Exam;
	(y) "ISE Certification" means the successful completion of the current ISE;
	(z) "Life Member" means such Persons who have been approved as Life Members under these Bylaws and the Articles;
	(aa) "Manufacturer Member" means such Entities which have been approved as Manufacturer Members under these Bylaws and the Articles;
	(bb) "Manufacturer Standards Exam" means the current series of questions to determine a Person's knowledge, being a representative of an Entity, of the AWMAC Standards and GIS program. For clarity, it is the Person who completed the MSE Certification ...
	(cc) "Manufacturing Facility" means an architectural woodwork manufacturing facility that produces architectural woodwork products as defined by the current AWMAC Standards;
	(dd) "Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting or a Special Meeting of the Members of AWMAC, as the case may be;
	(ee) "Members" means those members of AWMAC  from time to time;
	(ff) Membership Fees" means the fees payable by Members to AWMAC in the manner set out in these Bylaws;
	(gg) "MSE" means the Manufacturer Standards Exam;
	(hh) "MSE Certification" means the successful completion of the current MSE;
	(ii) "NAAWS" means the most current North American Architectural Woodwork Standards;
	(jj) "Objects" means the objects and purposes of AWMAC in accordance with the Articles and these Bylaws;
	(kk) "Officers" means the Officers of AWMAC appointed or elected from time to time in accordance with these Bylaws and an "Officer" means one (1) of them;
	(ll) "Ordinary Resolution" means:
	(i) a resolution passed at a Meeting of AWMAC by a simple majority of the votes cast by those Members entitled to vote at the Meeting; or
	(ii) a resolution that has been submitted to the Members and consented to in writing by no less than all of the Members, in person or by proxy, who would have been entitled to vote on it;

	(mm) "Person" means a natural person, including a natural person operating through a sole proprietorship;
	(nn) "Regional Boundary" means the Province, Territory, or such other geographically approved area of a Chapter, being the area within which the Chapter Members must conduct the majority of their business or be located;
	(oo) "Special Meeting" means any meeting of the Members which is not an Annual General Meeting, in each case in such form as and to be held in accordance with the requirements of the Act and these Bylaws;
	(pp) "Special Resolution" means:
	(i) a resolution passed:
	(A) at a Meeting of which not less than 21 days' notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution has been duly given, and
	(B) by the vote of not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of those Members who are entitled to vote at that Meeting who vote in person or by proxy; or

	(ii) a resolution proposed and passed as a special resolution at a Meeting of which less than 21 days' notice has been given if all the Members entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting so agree; or
	(iii) a resolution consented to in writing by all of the Members who would have been entitled at a Meeting to vote on the resolution in person or, where proxies are permitted, by proxy;

	(qq) "Supplier Member" means such Entities which have been approved as Supplier Members under these Bylaws and the Articles; and
	(rr) "Vice-Chair" means that Director appointed or elected as the Vice-Chair under these Bylaws and which, for clarity, shall be the Vice President of AWMAC.

	1.2 Definitions in Act Apply to Bylaws - Except where they conflict with the definitions contained in these Bylaws, the definitions in the Act apply to these Bylaws. To the extent of any conflict between the Act and these Bylaws, the Act will prevail.
	1.3 Objects - The objects of AWMAC are those purposes and objects named in the Articles, and a copy of the Articles shall be kept with a copy of these Bylaws. In addition, AWMAC  shall promote and work toward the following objects generally, to the ex...
	(a) to promote the interests of Entities or Persons engaged in the Industry and the business of supplying, manufacturing and installing architectural woodwork products and similar products within, and/or exporting from, Canada;
	(b) to provide information and assistance to its Members and Entities or Persons dealing with the Industry, including design professionals, contractors and manufacturers;
	(c) to establish, promote and uphold quality architectural woodwork standards;
	(d) to establish ethical business standards and uniform trade practices within the Industry;
	(e) to assist in all ways in the improvement of public relations for the Industry;
	(f) to promote close liaison between Members, suppliers, other trades, general contractors, architects, engineers, suppliers and the general public;
	(g) to assist Members in developing and expanding better employee-employer relationships with an eye toward ensuring the Industry maintains a high standard of competent, satisfied workers to achieve maximum efficiency;
	(h) to formulate and encourage education programs for the training of architectural woodworkers so that the Industry may benefit from improved methods and increased skills;
	(i) to create programs and advocate for manufacturing standards that encourage and promote safety and best practices in the business of architectural woodwork;
	(j) to promote the education of the public and Members of AWMAC with respect to the business of architectural woodwork and the best practices related to the same;
	(k) to fund manufacturing or woodworking specific standards and research regarding the business of architectural woodwork and best practices;
	(l) to promote, encourage and advocate for legislation and regulation for the woodworking industry for the general good of all;
	(m) to hold conferences, meetings and exhibitions for the discussion of woodworking and issues impacting woodworking;
	(n) to hire, engage or otherwise secure the services of Entities or Persons to promote and carry out the Objects of AWMAC;
	(o) to raise funds in any way permissible by the Act to achieve the Objects of AWMAC. This includes accepting gifts, donations, grants, legacies, bequests and inheritances; and
	(p) to provide such further services as are, from time to time, deemed expedient for the protection and promotion of the bests interests of the Industry.

	1.4 Context - Words using the singular number or the masculine gender shall include the plural number or the feminine gender, as the case may be, and vice versa and references to persons, organizations or corporations shall include individuals, partne...
	1.5 Conduct of AWMAC  - AWMAC  shall conduct its activities without the purpose of personal gain for any of its Members, Directors or Officers, except as otherwise explicitly stated in the Bylaws or Articles. Any income or other assets of AWMAC shall ...
	1.6 Approvals – To the extent any approval threshold for any decision or action as outlined in these Bylaws is met, the Members and/or Directors, as applicable, shall vote or sign such resolutions as may be required to meet the requirements of the Act...

	ARTICLE 2 -  MEMBERSHIP
	2.1 Membership – Each Member of a Chapter who holds membership in a membership class also held by AWMAC as described herein and who is a Member in good standing with their Chapter, shall automatically become a Member of AWMAC in the same or correspond...
	2.2 Classes of Members - The Membership of AWMAC shall consist of the classes set out in the Articles, with the classes of Membership including:
	(a) Manufacturer Members;
	(b) Supplier Members;
	(c) Installer Members;
	(d) Design Members;
	(e) Allied Members; and
	(f) Life Members.

	2.3 Manufacturer Member – Any reasonable Entity that operates a Manufacturing Facility producing architectural woodwork as defined by the AWMAC Standards that operates primarily within the Regional Boundary of a Chapter and which has been accepted as ...
	Prior to being accepted as a Manufacturer Member, and at all times in order to remain in good standing as a Manufacturer Member, such Entity must:
	(a) have the ability to provide submittals compliant with the Submittals section of the AWMAC Standards;
	(b) have the ability to create their own submittals, and actively produce and manufacture, in a non-trivial quantity, work from the Casework section of the AWMAC Standards along with work from three (3) of the following sections of the AWMAC Standards...
	(i) Finishing;
	(ii) Millwork;
	(iii) Stairwork and Rails;
	(iv) Wall/Ceiling Surfacing Partitions;
	(v) Passage Doors;
	(vi) Countertops; and/or
	(vii) Historic Restoration; and

	(c) have one (1) or more owners, managers or persons of authority who have oversight or authority over the Entity's Submittals referred to in Section 2.3(a) of these Bylaws, receive MSE Certification, and maintain or upgrade such MSE Certification as ...

	2.4 Supplier Member – Any reasonable Entity that does not meet the Manufacturer Member requirements but supplies goods, materials or equipment to, or associated with, the manufacturing or installation of architectural woodwork within the Regional Boun...
	2.5 Installer Member – Any reasonable Entity that does not meet the Manufacturer Member requirements but installs architectural woodwork projects but does not manufacture architectural woodwork projects within the Regional Boundary of a Chapter and wh...
	2.6 Design Member - Any reasonable Person or Entity that does not meet the Manufacturer Member requirements but is engaged in the design or specification of architectural woodwork but does not manufacture architectural woodwork projects within the Reg...
	2.7 Allied Member - Any reasonable Person or Entity that does not meet any other categories of Membership but is engaged in or operates in an industry or provides education related to or associated with architectural woodworking within the Regional Bo...
	2.8 Life Member – A Chapter, at its discretion, may grant a Person a Life Member membership as an expression of appreciation for distinguished services. Any such Person shall also become Life Members of AWMAC in accordance with these Bylaws. Except as...
	(a) payments directly from AWMAC or a Chapter where such payments are compensation for acting as an AWMAC Certified GIS Inspector and providing quality inspections on behalf of AWMAC or a Chapter using the AWMAC Standards;
	(b) payments directly from AWMAC or a Chapter where such payments are in relation to providing expert opinions, reports or consultations on behalf of and as requested by AWMAC or a Chapter; and/or
	(c) payments directly from AWMAC or a Chapter where such payments are compensation for providing such other limited services to or on behalf of AWMAC or a Chapter in such manner and fashion as may be requested by AWMAC or a Chapter from time to time.

	2.9 Recording of Members – AWMAC shall maintain a register of Members in accordance with the requirements of the Act, which register shall contain at minimum:
	(a) the name of each Member;
	(b) the Chapter of which each Member is a member;
	(c) the current residential (for Persons who are Members) and business address (for Entities which are Members) of each Member;
	(d) an email address for each Member;
	(e) the date on which each Member became a Member and, to the extent applicable, the date on which such Member ceased to be a Member; and
	(f) the class of Membership pursuant to which each Member exists.

	Each Member shall promptly, upon a change to any of the above-noted information, provide AWMAC and their Chapter with such updated information in writing so that AWMAC may keep their records up to date. To the extent they fail to do so, AWMAC shall no...
	2.10 Member in Good Standing – A Member shall be in good standing so long as they are actively participating in the Objects of AWMAC, abiding by AWMAC's Bylaws and policies, paying all Membership Fees and Membership Fees and remain in good standing wi...
	A Member shall not be in good standing if they fail to pay their Membership Fees and dues (of any kind) or Chapter Membership Fees and dues (of any kind) for a period of more than sixty (60) days, if they are suspended in accordance with the terms her...
	Any Member not in good standing:
	(a) may not receive, until such time that they return to good standing status, a GIS certificate;
	(b) shall be deprived of any benefits they are entitled to in these Bylaws until such time that they return to good standing status;
	(c) may not vote, make a motion nor second a motion at any Meeting of AWMAC, until such time that they return to good standing status; and
	(d) shall be subject to such further restrictions, limits, or conditions established by the Board from time to time.

	2.11 Membership Ongoing - Membership in AWMAC, subject to ongoing membership in a Chapter, is ongoing, non-transferable and does not require affirmation by the Members or the Board once a Member has been approved.
	2.12 Membership Rights and Entitlements – The classes of Membership will carry the following rights and entitlements:
	(a) Manufacturer Members:
	(i) will have the right to vote on all matters concerning the affairs of AWMAC, and each Manufacturer Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote. For clarity, each Manufacturer Member shall only have one (1) vote regardless of how many employees, locati...
	(ii) shall be entitled to hold (or have a representative hold) office with AWMAC, including Board positions, in accordance with these Bylaws;
	(iii) shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, (or have a representative nominated or appointed), as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board;
	(iv) may participate in and receive all benefits of the GIS program; and
	(v) shall be entitled to all other privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the Board from time to time.

	(b) Supplier Members:
	(ii) shall be entitled to hold (or have a representative hold) office with AWMAC, including Board positions, in accordance with these Bylaws;
	(iii) shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, (or have a representative nominated or appointed), as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board; and
	(iv) shall be entitled to other limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the Board from time to time.

	(c) Installer Members:
	(ii) shall be entitled to hold (or have a representative hold) office with AWMAC, including Board positions, in accordance with these Bylaws;
	(iii) shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, (or have a representative nominated or appointed), as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board; and
	(iv) shall be entitled to other limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the Board from time to time.

	(d) Design Members:
	(e) Allied Members:
	(f) Life Members:
	(ii) shall be entitled to be nominated, or appointed, as the case may be, to committees of AWMAC as established by the Board; and
	(iii) shall be entitled to other limited privileges of membership of AWMAC as determined by the Board from time to time.


	2.13 Membership Entitlement – Subject to the rights outlined herein, in the case of a voting Member which is a firm, partnership, corporation or other Entity, each member of the firm or partnership and each Director and/or Officer of the corporation s...
	2.14 Members with Multiple Classifications – Members cannot become a Member in more than one (1) membership category at the same time.
	2.15 Membership Requirements – It is a requirement that Members, to the extent applicable:
	(a) actively promote AWMAC and its Objects and actively participate in the various aspects of AWMAC;
	(b) avoid conflicts of interest, including as outlined in any policies of AWMAC regarding the same;
	(c) use reasonable efforts to remain compliant with jurisdictional occupational health and safety requirements; and
	(d) do nothing which would bring AWMAC or the architectural woodworking industry into disrepute.

	2.16 Membership Designation – A Member's category of membership in AWMAC is subject to any re-assignment to their membership category in their Chapter. The Chapter, at the discretion of the Chapter Board, retains the right to re-assign any Chapter Mem...
	2.17 Assignment of Membership – Membership with AWMAC is not assignable or transferrable and will remain with the initiating applicant Member until terminated under the provisions of these bylaws. A Member with multiple arms' length corporate entities...
	2.18 Membership Ceasing - A Member shall cease to be a Member upon:
	(a) that Member resigning their Membership with their Chapter; or
	(b) that Member being removed as a Member of their Chapter in accordance with the bylaws or articles of the Chapter; or
	(c) in the instance of a natural Person Member, the death of that Member; or
	(d) in the instance of a body corporate or other legal entity Member which is not an individual, the termination of the corporate existence or legal existence of that Member; or
	(e) a Member failing to pay their Membership Fees and dues (of any kind) or Chapter Membership Fees and dues (of any kind), in whole or in part, for a period of one hundred twenty (120) days unless otherwise excused by the Board or the Chapter Board, ...

	2.19 Voluntary Withdrawal of Member - A Member may terminate its Membership in AWMAC by providing written notice to AWMAC of its intent to withdraw. A Member may only terminate its Membership with AWMAC if it also terminates its Membership with the Me...
	2.20 Membership Discipline – Membership discipline and the responsibility shall rest primarily with the Chapter of which a Member is a member. Should a Chapter choose to discipline a Chapter Member, the Board shall implement corresponding discipline o...
	2.21 Fees On Suspension – In the event that a Member is suspended, the Member shall, nevertheless, remain obligated to pay all its outstanding dues and assessments, which shall constitute a debt due and owing by the Member to AWMAC (and/or their Chapt...
	2.22 Life Member – Except as otherwise permitted herein, in the event a Life Member begins deriving income from the Industry after being admitted as a Life Member, they must renounce their standing as a Life Member and all rights associated with the s...
	2.23 Confidentiality – Except to the extent required or permitted by law or with the consent of a Member, AWMAC will not disclose information regarding any Member to a third party.
	2.24 Reinstatement – Any Member which has its Membership terminated and is subsequently reinstated by a Chapter shall be reinstated as a Member of AWMAC.

	ARTICLE 3 -  MEMBERSHIP FEES
	3.1 Fees Payable by Members - Membership Fees and dues for each class of Members for the upcoming year shall be fixed by majority vote of the Board. Fees can include, without limitation, (a) annual dues or fees; and (b) special assessments. Members sh...
	3.2 Fees for the Chapter – Members shall also be Chapter Members, and it is acknowledged that the Chapter will, from time to time, set Chapter Membership Fees, with such fees, dues and assessments to be set in accordance with the bylaws and articles o...
	3.3 Fees Collected by the Chapter – Upon determination, Membership Fees in AWMAC shall be communicated to the relevant Chapters of which a Member is a member, and the Chapter shall collect the Membership Fees on top of the Chapter Membership Fees and ...
	3.4 Calculation of Fees – Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, dues, fees and assessments payable by Members to AWMAC are a debt due to AWMAC by the Members, are collectable as such, and are non-refundable.

	ARTICLE 4 -  MEETINGS OF MEMBERS
	4.1 Annual General Meeting - The Annual General Meeting shall be held at such time and place, in accordance with the Act, as the Board shall decide.
	4.2 Special Meetings - The Board may, whenever it sees fit, convene a Special Meeting of the Members.
	4.3 Notice of Meetings – Except as otherwise stated in the Bylaws or as required by the Act, written notice of the time and place of meetings of the Members and an agenda of the business to be transacted shall be given to each Member, as applicable, a...
	(a) seven (7) days before the holding of a Special Meeting; and
	(b) twenty-one (21) days before the holding of an Annual General Meeting.

	4.4 Minimum Number of Annual General Meetings – The Board shall cause at least one (1) Annual General Meeting to be called each calendar year.
	4.5 Members Meetings – In addition to all requirements herein, a Special Meeting of the Members shall be called by the Chair or Vice-Chair upon receipt of a petition signed by at least ten percent (10%) of voting Members in good standing, setting fort...
	4.6 Quorum for Meetings – A quorum for the transaction of business at any Meeting of Members shall consist of at least twenty percent (20%) of voting Members in good standing.
	4.7 Robert's Rules – Except to the extent they are inconsistent with these Bylaws, in which case the Bylaws shall govern, the most current form of Robert's Rules of Order shall govern all meetings of both Members and the Board and shall be used and re...

	ARTICLE 5 -  PROCEEDINGS AT MEMBERS' MEETINGS
	5.1 Meeting Agenda - Other than at the Annual General Meeting, the agenda for a Special Meeting shall be that approved at the Meeting or as provided for in the notice of the Meeting. The agenda for the Annual General Meeting shall be as outlined in th...
	5.2 Proxy Voting – To the extent permitted by the Act, a Member entitled to vote at (a) an Annual General Meeting of Members; or (b) a Special Meeting of Members at which a Special Resolution is to be passed may vote by proxy by appointing, in writing...
	(a) a proxy is valid only at the Meeting in respect of which it is given or at the continuation of that Meeting after an adjournment;
	(b) a Member may revoke a proxy by providing notice in writing of the revocation to:
	(i) the registered office of AWMAC no later than the last Business Day preceding the day of the Meeting, or the day of the continuation of that Meeting after an adjournment of that meeting, at which the proxy is to be used, or
	(ii) with the chairperson of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or the day of the continuation of that Meeting after an adjournment of that Meeting; and

	(c) a proxy holder or an alternate proxy holder has the same rights as the Member by whom they were appointed, including the right to speak at a Meeting of Members in respect of any matter, to vote by way of ballot at the Meeting, to demand a ballot a...

	5.3 Tie – In the event of a tie on a vote of the Members entitled to vote, the matter shall be considered defeated.
	5.4 Voting Procedure
	(a) unless otherwise required by the Bylaws or pursuant to the Act or any other applicable law, any resolution put before the Members must be passed by Ordinary Resolution;
	(b) every question shall be decided in the first instance by a show of hands unless any Member demands a recorded vote;
	(c) a declaration by the chairperson of the meeting that a resolution has been carried or not carried and an entry to that effect in the minutes of AWMAC shall be sufficient evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the vote ac...
	(d) to the extent permitted by the Act, the Board may permit absentee voting by mail or email so long as the form of voting enables votes to be gathered in a manner that permits their subsequent verification and permits the votes to be tallied anonymo...

	5.5 Conduct of Business at Meeting - Business at all Meetings of the Members shall be conducted according to these Bylaws and the rules of order adopted by Ordinary Resolution of the Members.
	5.6 Resolutions from Floor - Except as limited by the Act, a resolution may be submitted from the floor; however, for clarity, no decision requiring a Special Resolution may be submitted from the floor.
	5.7 Chairperson of Member Meetings - The Chair shall preside at every meeting of the Members; however, if the Chair is not present or the Chair refuses to preside, the Vice-Chair shall preside. In the absence of both the Chair and Vice-Chair, then tho...
	5.8 Virtual Meetings – To the extent permitted by the Act, any Meeting of AWMAC may be held in-person, electronically or through a combination of both in-person and electronic means. Members may both vote and participate electronically in Meetings, an...
	5.9 Order of Business at the Annual General Meeting – For guidance and not as a mandate, the order of business at the Annual General Meeting of AWMAC  is generally as follows:
	(a) call to order;
	(b) roll call;
	(c) adoption of agenda;
	(d) adoption of minutes of previous Annual General Meeting;
	(e) business arising from minutes;
	(f) reading of financial reports;
	(g) report of the Board;
	(h) report of committees (if any);
	(i) appointment of the Board;
	(j) appointment of the accountant for the year;
	(k) correspondence;
	(l) new business;
	(m) acknowledgement of sponsorship; and
	(n) adjournment.


	ARTICLE 6 -  BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	6.1 The Board – Subject to anything contained to the contrary in the Bylaws or the Act, the property and affairs of AWMAC shall be managed by the Board.
	6.2 Election of the Board of Directors – Subject to the constating documents of AWMAC, the Board shall consist of such number of Directors as may be set by the Board from time to time by Ordinary Resolution. In no instance shall the number of Director...
	6.3 Term of Directors – Unless otherwise determined by the Members by Ordinary Resolution, a term for a Director position shall be for two (2) years from the date of election until the second Annual General Meeting following their election. A Director...
	6.4 Makeup of Board – The Board shall consist of one (1) representative nominated by each Chapter. The Members shall elect such nominees in accordance with the terms of these Bylaws. To the extent a Chapter does not provide a nominee, the existing Boa...
	6.5 Chapter Nomination of Directors – Each Chapter shall submit, at least two (2) months prior to the Annual General Meeting of AWMAC, its nomination of an individual representing either a Manufacturer Member, Installer Member or Supplier Member of th...
	6.6 Board Nomination of Directors – The Board may submit, at least two (2) months prior to the Annual General Meeting of AWMAC, its nomination for one (1) or more individuals representing either a Manufacturer Member, Installer Member or Supplier Memb...
	6.7 Manufacturer Member Majority – In receiving nominations, the Board shall, to the extent possible, ensure that at least a simple majority of the total number of Directors of AWMAC will be representatives of Manufacturer Members. If the total number...
	6.8 Election of Directors – A Person who meets any qualification requirements, as set out by the Act and these Bylaws, to be a Director and who has been duly nominated by the Board or a Chapter in accordance herewith, shall be elected as a Director.
	6.9 Situations Where Director is Deemed Not Be a Director - A Director shall immediately cease to be a Director upon:
	(a) giving their resignation in writing to the Board;
	(b) their death;
	(c) removal by the Members by Ordinary Resolution;
	(d) removal by the members of the Chapter who nominated the Director;
	(e) being convicted of an indictable offence, in the event the majority of the Board decides to remove such Director as a result of such conviction; or
	(f) as otherwise outlined herein.

	6.10 Non-Attendance at Meetings - Upon any Director failing to attend or participate in three (3) consecutive meetings of the Board of which they had notice, and unless the Board has specifically excused the Director from attendance, such Director sha...
	6.11 Filling Vacancies – Upon a Director ceasing to be a director prior to the end of their term for whatever reason, the Chapter who nominated such Director shall be entitled to nominate a replacement Director. To the extent the Chapter fails to do s...
	6.12 Powers of Board - The Board may exercise all powers and do all acts, and things as AWMAC may exercise and do, and which are not by these Bylaws or by statute or otherwise lawfully directed or required to be exercised or done by the Members, but s...
	6.13 Payment to Directors – Directors, may not receive salaries for their services as a Director. A Director may serve AWMAC in any other capacity and receive compensation for those services. A Director may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurr...
	6.14 Quorum – A quorum of Directors is a majority of the Directors. In addition to the foregoing, of the Directors present, at least a majority must be nominees of Manufacturer Members for a quorum to be present.
	6.15 Votes to Govern at Meetings of the Board – At all meetings of the Board, every question shall be decided by majority vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair of the meeting shall not have a second or cast a vote in addition to an orig...
	6.16 Action by Consent of Board Without Meeting – Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board may be taken without a meeting, and with the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of Directors, if all Members of the Board consent in wri...
	6.17 Duties of Directors – Directors shall discharge their duties in good faith, with ordinary care, and in a manner they reasonably believe to be in the best interest of AWMAC.
	6.18 Policies – The Board shall have the ability to, from time to time, create such policies and rules governing the affairs and conduct of AWMAC as the Board deems fit, including a code of conduct. Members and Directors must comply with all policies ...
	6.19 Insurance – AWMAC shall at all times maintain, to the extent possible, Director and Officer insurance.
	6.20 Employees and Executive Director – The Board may, from time to time, hire such employees as are required for the purposes of the Objects of AWMAC, including, without limitation, an Executive Director.

	ARTICLE 7 -  PROCEEDINGS OF BOARD MEETINGS
	7.1 Frequency and Location of Board Meetings - The meetings of the Board may be held at any time and place to be determined by the Chair in consultation with the Board, including virtually. Notwithstanding anything in the Bylaws to the contrary, the B...
	7.2 Electronic Means – Board meetings may take place electronically, in person or through a mixture of both. Board members shall be permitted to attend and vote at Board meetings electronically.
	7.3 Notice of Board Meetings – Except as noted herein, written notice of the time and place of a meeting of the Board shall be given to each Director at least five (5) Business Days before the meeting. A Director may, at any time, waive notice in writ...
	7.4 Chair Convening Meeting - The Chair may convene a meeting of the Board.
	7.5 Voting Procedure – Voting shall be by show of hands unless the majority of the Directors present and eligible to vote shall otherwise determine.
	7.6 Tie Vote – In the event of a tie vote, the motion shall be declared lost.
	7.7 Recorded Votes – Directors may request that their vote be recorded.
	7.8 Resolutions in Writing – A resolution in writing, signed by all the Directors and deposited with the Chair, is as valid and effective as a resolution of the Board passed at a meeting of the Board.
	7.9 Conflict of Interest – Subject to any Board policies dealing with this subject matter, a Director shall not vote on a matter in which that Director has a conflict of interest.  Where a Director believes a conflict of interest on a given matter exi...
	7.10 Role of Nominated Directors – Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, no Director shall be in a conflict of interest simply due to that Director's membership with a Chapter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in acting as a Director...

	ARTICLE 8 -  OFFICERS
	8.1 Appointment of Officer Positions – The Board shall appoint Officers of AWMAC from within the Board for two (2) year terms, including, without limitation, the following Officers:
	(a) President;
	(b) Vice President;
	(c) Secretary; and
	(d) Treasurer.

	8.2 Chair and Vice-Chair
	(a) The Chair of AWMAC shall be the President of AWMAC.
	(b) The Vice-Chair of AWMAC shall be the Vice President of AWMAC.
	(c) No Person shall serve both as the Chair and Vice-Chair at the same time.

	8.3 Restriction on Officer Positions – The Board or the Members may, from time to time, set restrictions on Officer positions and require that certain Officer positions be filled by certain classes (or representatives of particular classes) of Members...
	8.4 Removal of Officers – The Board, upon a majority vote of the Directors, may remove any Officer which the Board deems necessary. To the extent that the President and Vice President were elected by the Members rather than appointed by the Board, the...
	8.5 Remuneration – No Officer shall be remunerated for their position, but Officers may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred by them to attend an AWMAC meeting or to conduct the business of AWMAC if approved by the Board in advance.

	ARTICLE 9 -  DUTIES OF PRESCRIBED OFFICERS
	9.1 Powers and Duties of President – The President shall:
	(a) be President of AWMAC and subject to the authorities of the Board, and authorities set by the Board, have supervision of the business and affairs of AWMAC and shall have such other additional powers and duties as the Board may specify from time to...
	(b) attend at all, and preside over, each meeting of the Board and of the Members, and in doing so, be the chairperson of such meetings;
	(c) vote on all matters before the Board and the Members in accordance with the Bylaws and the Act and subject to the conflict of interest provisions;
	(d) attend at all committees of the Board as an ex-officio member unless the Chair is appointed by the Board to be a member of the committee beyond its capacity as an ex-officio member;
	(e) not be a chairperson of a committee unless the members of the committee agree that the President of the Board shall be the chairperson of the committee;
	(f) if the Secretary is not present at a meeting of the Board, a meeting of the Members, or a meeting of a Board Committee, either appoint a Board member to or if they do not appoint a Board member to, be the recording secretary of the meeting and sha...
	(g) otherwise ensure that the Secretary or a recording secretary is present at such meetings and shall therefore enter or cause to be entered in records kept for that purpose, minutes of all proceedings at such meetings;
	(h) in the event of a vacancy of the Officer positions of the Treasurer or Secretary, fulfill the duties of the Treasurer as required by the Bylaws, Act, or as set by the Board;
	(i) give or cause to be given as and when instructed, all notice to Members, the Board, Officers, auditors and members of committees of the Board;
	(j) provide operational reports or other statements as to the affairs of the Board, as the Board may require from time to time;
	(k) certify any documents of AWMAC except when some other Officer or agent has been appointed for any such purpose;
	(l) ensure that the policies and programs of AWMAC are implemented; and
	(m) advise and inform the Board on the operations and affairs of AWMAC.

	9.2 Powers and Duties of the Vice President - The Vice President shall:
	(a) in the case of the absence of or the inability of the President to conduct their duties, be vested with the powers and duties of the President;
	(b) in the event of a vacancy of the Officer positions of the Treasurer or Secretary, and if assigned by the President, fulfill the duties of the Treasurer as required by the Bylaws, Act, or as set by the Board; and
	(c) exercise such other powers and authority and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the Board.

	9.3 Powers and Duties of the Treasurer - The Treasurer shall:
	(a) keep or cause to be kept proper accounting records in compliance with the Act and shall be responsible for the deposit of monies and other valuable effects of AWMAC in the name and to the credit of AWMAC in such banks or other depositories as the ...
	(b) be responsible for the disbursement of the funds of AWMAC;
	(c) render to the Board, whenever so directed, an account of all financial transactions and the financial position of AWMAC;
	(d) in the event of a vacancy of the Officer position of the Secretary, fulfill the duties of the Secretary as required by the Bylaws, Act, or as set by the Board; and
	(e) exercise such other powers and authority and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the Board.

	9.4 Powers and Duties of the Secretary - The Secretary shall:
	(a) be the custodian of the corporate seal, if any, of AWMAC and shall have charge of all books, papers, reports, certificates, records, documents, registers and instruments belonging to AWMAC except when some other Officer or agent has been appointed...
	(b) be responsible for registering or filing of, or causing to the registered or filed, all reports, certificates and all of the documents required by law to be registered or filed by AWMAC;
	(c) be the recording secretary of all meetings at which the Secretary is present and enter or cause to be entered in records kept for that purpose, minutes of all proceedings at such meetings, unless another Person has been appointed as recording secr...
	(d) exercise such other powers and authority and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the Board.

	9.5 Signing Authority – The signing authorities for AWMAC are as follows:
	(a) all Officers and Directors are eligible to be signing officers on behalf of AWMAC;
	(b) the Board may appoint such other employees or representatives of AWMAC as signing officers as it deems fit;
	(c) all cheques, payments or electronic fund transfers must be signed and approved, as applicable, by two signing officers; and
	(d) the Board may, from time to time, implement such other policies regarding signing, electronic fund transfers or payments as it deems fit.


	ARTICLE 10 -  COMMITTEES
	10.1 Delegation of Board Powers - The Board may delegate some, but not all, of its powers to committees as it deems fit.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may not delegate final decision-making power to any committee, and the Board must ratify...
	10.2 Board Committees - The Board may appoint standing or ad hoc committees that it deems necessary consisting of Directors and others and may assign duties and responsibilities to the committees that are not inconsistent with the Act and may make reg...
	10.3 Committees Accountable to Board - All Board committees shall be accountable to the Board.

	ARTICLE 11 -  ANNUAL REVIEW OR AUDIT ENGAGEMENT
	11.1 Annual Review or Audit Engagement – To the extent required by the Act or required by the Members by Ordinary Resolution, AWMAC shall appoint a public accountant as required by the Act. The books and records will be reviewed or audited by the publ...
	11.2 Public Accountant Appointed at Annual General Meeting – To the extent reviewed or audited financials are required pursuant to Section 11.1, at each Annual General Meeting, the Members shall appoint the public accountant to hold office until they ...

	ARTICLE 12 -  SEAL
	12.1 Seal - The Board may provide a seal for AWMAC, and it shall have power from time to time to change such seal.
	12.2 Seal Affixation - The seal shall be affixed only when authorized by a resolution of the Board, and then only in the presence of the Persons prescribed in the resolution, or if no Persons are prescribed, in the presence of any two (2) Directors.

	ARTICLE 13 -  FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES AND OPERATIONS
	13.1 Fiscal Year of AWMAC  - The fiscal year of AWMAC shall terminate on a day in each year to be fixed by the Board, and the financial statements of AWMAC 's affairs for presentation to the Members at the Annual General Meeting shall be made up to th...
	13.2 Borrowing – To the extent permitted by the Act, and for the purpose of carrying out its Objects, AWMAC may, by a majority vote of the Board, borrow, raise or secure money in such manner as it sees fit, and in particular by the issue of debentures.
	13.3 Disclosure – Subject to the Act, AWMAC shall provide the Members with the financial statements and documents required by the Act, including Section 172(1) of the Act.

	ARTICLE 14 -  MINUTES
	14.1 Minutes to be Entered - The Directors shall cause minutes to be entered in books provided for:
	(a) all appointments or elections of Officers;
	(b) all names of all Directors present at each meeting of the Directors; and
	(c) all resolutions and proceedings of meetings of the Members and the Board.

	14.2 Minutes Endorsed by Chair - Any minutes of the Members and the Board meetings, if signed or endorsed by the chairperson of that meeting or the Chair of the next succeeding meeting, shall be receivable as prima facie evidence of the matters stated...

	ARTICLE 15 -  NOTICE
	15.1 People Entitled to Notice of Meetings of Members - Notice of any Meetings of Members shall be given to:
	(a) every Entity or Person shown on the register of Members as a Member on the day notice is given; and
	(b) the auditor or public accountant, if appointed, in the case of an Annual General Meeting.

	15.2 Method of Providing Notice - Any notice which is required or permitted to be given under these Bylaws shall be in writing and shall be:
	(a) delivered or mailed by regular mail to the address of the recipient, to whom is it intended, last known to AWMAC as recorded on its books or records; or
	(b) sent by electronic mail to the recipient's electronic mail address last known to AWMAC as recorded on its books or records.

	15.3 Deemed Delivery of Notice
	(a) Any notice delivered before 4:30 p.m. (local time) on a Business Day shall be deemed to have been received on the date of delivery.
	(b) Any notice delivered by hand or sent by email after 4:30 p.m. (local time) on a Business Day or delivered by hand or sent on a day other than a Business Day, as the case may be, shall be deemed to have been received on the next Business Day. Any n...
	(c) Further, if regular mail service is interrupted by strike, slow-down, force majeure or other cause after a notice has been sent by regular mail, such notice will not be deemed to be received until received. If standard mail service is impaired whe...


	ARTICLE 16 -  INSPECTION OF CORPORATE RECORDS
	16.1 Inspection of Corporate Records - A Member may inspect the books and records of AWMAC, in accordance with the Act, at any time upon giving reasonable written notice to the Board and arranging a time satisfactory to the Chair or Vice-Chair, respec...

	ARTICLE 17 -  CONDUCT
	17.1 Use of AWMAC Standards – Manufacturer Members must use the current AWMAC Standards, by default, as their minimum quality guidelines for all work produced or completed that (a) does not have specific specifications or instructions outlined which v...

	ARTICLE 18 -  BYLAWS
	18.1 Alteration of Bylaws – These Bylaws or Articles may be amended by an Ordinary Resolution of the Members, except for the following, which must be amended by a Special Resolution of the Members in accordance with the Act, or any other matters which...
	(a) change the name of AWMAC;
	(b) change the province in which AWMAC's 's registered office is situated;
	(c) add, change or remove any restriction on the activities that AWMAC may carry on;
	(d) create a new class of Members;
	(e) change a condition required for being a Member;
	(f) change the designation of any class of Members or add, change or remove any rights and conditions of any such class;
	(g) divide any class of Members into two or more classes and fix the rights and conditions of each class;
	(h) add, change or remove a provision respecting the transfer of a membership;
	(i) increase or decrease the number of the minimum of or maximum number of Directors fixed by the articles;
	(j) change the statement of the purpose of AWMAC;
	(k) change the statement concerning the distribution of property remaining on liquidation after the discharge of any liabilities of AWMAC;
	(l) change the manner of giving notice to Members entitled to vote at a meeting of Members;
	(m) change the method of voting by Members not in attendance at a meeting of Members; or
	(n) add, change or remove any other provision permitted by the Act to be set out in the articles.


	ARTICLE 19 -  DISSOLUTION OF AWMAC
	19.1 Special Resolution to Dissolve - AWMAC may only be dissolved by Special Resolution and in accordance with the Act.
	19.2 Funds on Dissolution – Any funds remaining in AWMAC upon dissolution after all liabilities and other requirements of the Act have been satisfied, subject to any restrictions herein, in the Act or the Articles, shall be distributed in accordance w...



